Provided for non-commercial research and education use. Not for reproduction, distribution or commercial use.



This article appeared in a journal published by Elsevier. The attached copy is furnished to the author for internal non-commercial research and education use, including for instruction at the authors institution and sharing with colleagues.

Other uses, including reproduction and distribution, or selling or licensing copies, or posting to personal, institutional or third party websites are prohibited.

In most cases authors are permitted to post their version of the article (e.g. in Word or Tex form) to their personal website or institutional repository. Authors requiring further information regarding Elsevier's archiving and manuscript policies are encouraged to visit:

http://www.elsevier.com/copyright

Journal of Controlled Release 146 (2010) 241-260

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect



Journal of Controlled Release

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/jconrel



Issues in long-term protein delivery using biodegradable microparticles

Mingli Ye, Sungwon Kim, Kinam Park*

Departments of Biomedical Engineering and Pharmaceutics, Purdue University, West Lafayette, Indiana 47907, USA

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 15 March 2010 Accepted 10 May 2010 Available online 19 May 2010

Keywords: Microparticles Protein drug Emulsion method PLGA Release profile Burst release Loading efficiency Encapsulation efficiency

ABSTRACT

Recently, a variety of bioactive protein drugs have been available in large quantities as a result of advances in biotechnology. Such availability has prompted development of long-term protein delivery systems. Biodegradable microparticulate systems have been used widely for controlled release of protein drugs for days and months. The most widely used biodegradable polymer has been poly(D,L-lactic-co-glycolic acid) (PLGA). Protein-containing microparticles are usually prepared by the water/oil/water (W/O/W) double emulsion method, and variations of this method, such as solid/oil/water (S/O/W) and water/oil/oil (W/O/O), have also been used. Other methods of preparation include spray drying, ultrasonic atomization, and electrospray methods.

The important factors in developing biodegradable microparticles for protein drug delivery are protein release profile (including burst release, duration of release, and extent of release), microparticle size, protein loading, encapsulation efficiency, and bioactivity of the released protein. Many studies used albumin as a model protein, and thus, the bioactivity of the release protein has not been examined. Other studies which utilized enzymes, insulin, erythropoietin, and growth factors have suggested that the right formulation to preserve bioactivity of the loaded protein drug during the processing and storage steps is important. The protein release profiles from various microparticle formulations can be classified into four distinct categories (Types A, B, C, and D). The categories are based on the magnitude of burst release, the extent of protein release, and the protein release kinetics followed by the burst release. The protein loading (i.e., the total amount of protein loaded divided by the total weight of microparticles) in various microparticles is $6.7 \pm 4.6\%$, and it ranges from 0.5% to 20.0%. Development of clinically successful long-term protein delivery systems based on biodegradable microparticles requires improvement in the drug loading efficiency, control of the initial burst release, and the ability to control the protein release kinetics.

© 2010 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Contents

1.	Introd	uction
2.	Micro	encapsulation methods
	2.1.	Water/oil/water (W/O/W) double emulsion method. 243
	2.2.	S/O/W method
	2.3.	W/O/O method (coacervation method)

* Corresponding author. Department of Biomedical Engineering 206 S. Martin Jischke Drive West Lafayette, IN 47907, USA. Tel.: +1 765 494 7759; fax: +1 765 497 7290. *E-mail address:* kpark@purdue.edu (K. Park).

0168-3659/\$ – see front matter S 2010 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.jconrel.2010.05.011

Abbreviations: AFTV, autologous fixed tumor vaccine; BDNA, brain-derived neurotropic factor; BSA, bovine serum albumin; bSOD, bovine superoxide dismutase; CD, cyclodextrin; DCM, dichloromethane, methylene chloride; dex-HEMA, hydroxyethyl methacrylated dextran; DGR, staphylokinase variant K35R; DMSO, dimethyl sulfoxide; DOPC, dioleoyl-sn-glycero-3-phosphocholine; DW, distilled water; EE, encapsulation efficiency; EO, ethylene oxide; EtAc, ethyl acetate; FITC, fluorescein isothiocyanate; GDNF, glial cell-line derived neurotropic factor; GFP, green fluorescent protein; GM-CSF, granulocyte macrophage colony-stimulating factor; HAp, hydroxyapatite; hCG, human chorionic gonadotropin; HGF, hepatocyte growth factor; HPβCD, hydroxyproyl-β-cyclodextrin; HSA, human serum albumin; lgG, human immunoglobulin G; IL, interleukin; INF, interferon; LC, loading capacity; LHRH, luteinizing hormone-releasing hormone; MβCD, methyl-β-cyclodextrin; MW, molecular weight; OMCTS, octamethylcyclotetrasiloxane; PC, posphatidylcholine; PDMS, poly(dimethyl siloxane); PE, petroleum ether; PEG, poly(ethylene glycol); PEG-PHis, poly(ethylene glycol)-b-poly(L-histidine); PGA, poly(glycolic acid); PHBV, poly(3-hydroxybutyrate-co-3-hydroxyvalerate); PHis, poly(L-histidine); PLA, poly(D,L-lactic acid); PLGA, poly(D,L-lactic-co-glycolic acid); PLMGA, poly(lactic-co-hydroxymethyl glycolic acid); PLL, poly(L-lysine); PMMA, poly(methacrylic acid); PPF, Precision Particle Fabrication; PRINT, particle replication in non-wetting template; PVA, poly (vinyl alcohol); PVP, poly(vinylpyrrolidone); rhGF, recombinant human epidermal growth factor; rhPEO, recombinant human erythropoietin; rhGH, recombinant human insulin-like growth factor-1; rhNGF, recombinant human nerve growth factor; rhVEGF, recombinant human vascular endothelial growth factor; rFGS, α-tocopheryl polyethylene glycol 100 succinate; TT, tetanus toxoid; W/O/O, water-in-oil-in-oil; W/O/W, water-in-oil-in-oil-in-water.

	2.4.	S/O/O method	244
	2.5.	Sprav drving and sprav freeze-drving method	244
	2.6.	Ultrasonic atomization method	244
	2.7.	Electrosprav method	245
	2.8.	Microfluidic methods	245
	2.9.	Pore-closing method and thermoreversible-gel method	245
	2.10.	Microfabrication method	251
3.	Chara	acterization of microparticles	251
	3.1.	Protein release profiles	251
	3.2.	Particle size	252
		3.2.1. W/O/W method	252
		3.2.2. S/O/W	252
		3.2.3. W/0/0	252
	3.3.	Protein loading capacity	253
	3.4.	Encapsulation efficiency	253
		3.4.1. W/O/W method	253
		3.4.2. S/O/W	254
		3.4.3. W/O/O method	254
	3.5.	Protein activity	254
		3.5.1. W/O/W method	254
		3.5.2. S/O/W method	254
		3.5.3. W/0/0	255
		3.5.4. Spray drving and spray freeze-drving.	255
4.	Future	re	255
Ackr	nowled	deement.	256
Refe	rences	5	256

1. Introduction

The traditional way of delivering a protein drug requires daily, sometimes multiple, injections to achieve its therapeutic effectiveness. To improve patient compliance and convenience, sustained release dosage forms have been developed [1–3]. In the last three decades, many therapeutic proteins and peptides have been microencapsulated in biodegradable polymers, mainly poly(lactic acid) (PLA), poly(glycolic acid) (PGA), and poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) (PLGA) [4-7]. The principle behind using biodegradable polymer is that the release of a loaded protein drug depends mainly on the degradation kinetics of the polymer. Thus, it has been assumed that a loaded protein drug is released gradually following the PLGA degradation kinetics which can be adjusted by changing the lactide/ glycolide ratio and molecular weight (MW) [2,8]. This, however, may not be always true, because other factors of the formulation can also affect the drug release kinetics, and sometimes they are more dominant than the degradation kinetics of a polymer.

An ideal microparticle formulation should have reasonably high protein encapsulation efficiency, loading capacity, and sustained release of the loaded protein with retained bioactivity [2,9]. The high protein loading and high encapsulation efficiencies are most critical simply due to the extremely high price of therapeutic proteins [9]. For an injectable

Table 1

Methods for making protein containing microparticles.

Double emulsion methods

- 1. Water/oil/water (W/O/W) method
- 2. Solid/oil/water (S/O/W) method
- 3. Water/oil/oil (W/O/O) method (Coacervation method)
- 4. Solid/oil/oil (S/O/O) method

Other methods

5. Spray drying and spray freeze-drying method

- 6. Ultrasonic atomization method
- 7. Electrospray method
- 8. Microfluidic method
- 9. Pore-closing method and thermoreversible-gel method
- 10. Microfabrication method

formulation, the size of microparticles should be small enough for going through a fine needle. Usually, needles of 22–25 gauge (inner diameters of 394–241 μ m) are used for quick intravenous infusion as well as intramuscular and subcutaneous injections. Microparticles with the diameter much smaller than that of a needle are preferred, in order to minimize potential blockage of the needle by them. The particle size and size distribution are also important for protein release rate as the total surface area for protein delivery depends on the particle size [10]. Preparing microspheres with all desirable properties has met with only limited success. This article examines the properties of protein-loaded microparticles, in particular, protein loading and release properties from PLGA microparticles.

2. Microencapsulation methods

Understanding the protein loading and release properties requires understanding the microencapsulation methods used for protein drugs. The preparation methods commonly used for making protein-loaded microparticles are listed in Table 1. Compared to double emulsion methods, ultrasonic atomization method, electrospray method, microfluidic method, pore-closing method, thermoreversible-gel method, and microfabrication are relatively new and still under investigation. All methods, except microfabrication technique, listed in Table 1 produce microparticles in the spherical form, and so the terms "microparticle" and "microsphere" have been used interchangeably. Easy comparison of properties of microparticles prepared by different methods requires several parameters related to microencapsulation and microparticle. Of those, the two parameters, the protein loading capacity and protein encapsulation efficiency, requires definitions as they are not intuitive in their meanings. In this review, the protein loading capacity (LC) and the protein encapsulation efficiency (EE) are defined as follows [11]:

Loading capacity = $\frac{\text{Weight of encapsulated protein}}{\text{Weight of microparticles}} \times 100\%$

Encapsulation efficiency = $\frac{\text{Weight of encapsulated protein}}{\text{Weight of the total protein used for encapsulation}} \times 100\%$



Fig. 1. Typical W/O/W double emulsion method to prepare microspheres containing protein drug (upper panel) and microscopic events during fabrication process (lower panel). The sequence of fabrication is primary emulsion, secondary emulsion, solvent extraction/evaporation (not shown), (freeze-)drying, and drug release test. With negligible partition of protein into oil phase (A), the organic solvent–water interface during W1/O emulsion results in protein denaturation (B). During generation of secondary emulsion, water channels connecting internal (W1) and external (W2) aqueous phases (E) allow proteins to escape from droplets (C), and provide more chances of protein denaturation by increased surface area of the oil–water interface (D). The water channels become pores (F) of microspheres hardened by freeze-drying, lee crystal (G) is known to provide a hazardous condition inducing protein denaturation (I). Irreversible aggregation (H) between protein molecules can be formed if stabilizer or cryoprotectant is not added. Normally, microspheres made by double emulsion have a broad range of particle size distribution as well as different protein amount in each microparticle. In a release test, a burst release of protein at the initial period (<24 h) is mostly due to the protein release (K) from the proteinaceous film on the particle surface (D). With time, proteins are release from particles (J) by diffusion and degradation (L) of polymer (e.g., PLGA). Microparticle degradation cumulates acidic products inside particles (M), which further facilitates protein denaturation (N). Protein adsorption on hydrophobic polymer surface (O) often leads to incomplete release of protein drugs.

The loading capacity indicates the percentage of the microparticles occupies by the loaded protein drug, and the encapsulation efficiency describes how much portion of the initial protein drug is present inside the microparticles. Obviously, the higher the values, the better, as long as the protein release profiles meet the intended goals.

2.1. Water/oil/water (W/O/W) double emulsion method

The W/O/W double emulsion methods have been most widely used because of their relatively simple process, convenience in controlling process parameters, and ability to produce with inexpensive instrument [12,13]. In W/O/W double emulsion methods, aqueous protein solution is dispersed in a polymer-dissolved organic solution, e.g., PLGA in dichloromethane (DCM) or ethyl acetate (EtAc), to form a primary W/O emulsion. Then, the primary emulsion is further dispersed into a large volume of water containing an emulsifier, such as poly(vinyl alcohol) (PVA), to form a W/O/W double emulsion. Hardened microparticles are formed by removing organic solvent from the polymer phase [14–16]. The organic solvent is removed by either solvent extraction or solvent evaporation. In solvent extraction, W/O/W double emulsion is exposed to a large amount of water or a cosolvent, such as acetone or alcohol, added into the aqueous bath. For solvent evaporation the temperature is increased, often under reduced pressure.

As a modification of traditional W/O/W method, membrane emulsification makes relatively uniform microspheres (less than 14% coefficient of variation) by forcing the primary emulsion through the uniform pores of a glass membrane into the external water phase under the pressure applied by nitrogen gas [17,18]. The particle size and distribution can be controlled by the pore size of the glass membrane and the emulsifier concentration in the external water phase.

The properties of microparticles (such as LC, EE, release kinetics, and particle size) depend on the parameters of protein (type and concentration), polymer (composition, MW, and concentration), volume ratio between protein and polymer solutions, emulsification method (time and intensity), and surfactant (type and concentration)

[19]. Analysis of the available information in the literature, however, suggests that the properties of the microparticles are not easy to control. One of the most critical factors to keep in mind in the W/O/W double emulsion methods is the step for removal of solvent from emulsion particles. W/O emulsion droplets are exposed to a huge amount of water to remove solvent and make the solid microparticles. This process takes time, and it is this step that may cause lower loading capacity and encapsulation efficiency, as well as the large initial burst release properties. While solvent is removed from the emulsion into aqueous bath, protein molecules can diffuse out from the emulsion into the aqueous bath and also can cumulate on the surface of microparticles, as they become hardened, resulting in the high initial burst release. Fig. 1 shows the major problems that have limited the success of W/O/W method for protein drug delivery. Each issue will be discussed in Section 3 in detail. Recent methods to prepare microparticles containing proteins drugs have been developed to figure out those problems, and are briefly described below.

2.2. S/O/W method

Protein adsorption and denaturation at the water/solvent interface is one of the major factors for decreased protein bioactivity occurring during the microencapsulation process [20-22]. To avoid the protein denaturation during formation of W/O emulsion, S/O/W method has been developed, because proteins in the solid state are believed to maintain their bioactivity by drastically reducing conformational mobility in comparison to the large structural change found in the dissolved state [23]. In the S/O/W method, solid protein particles are dispersed in the polymer solution to form the primary emulsion. Then the solid dispersion is introduced into a large volume of aqueous solution containing emulsifying agent, such as PVA or poly(ethylene glycol) (PEG) [23,24]. It is, however, noted that making dispersion of protein particles in organic solvent is not easy. Protein particle micronization is one of the major issues in the S/O/W method. Micronization methods include lyophilization, spray drying, and spray freeze-drying [22,25]. Spray freeze-drying collects atomized protein microdroplets in a frozen form and followed with the ice sublimation

under reduced pressure. Thus, the temperature-related protein denaturation and deactivation experienced in spray drying is circumvented [22]. The low operational temperature processes, such as spray freeze-drying and lyophilization, are widely used to micronize protein particles [26]. It is also significant to control the size of micronized protein. Research of recombinant human growth hormone (rhGH) encapsulation indicated that the protein particle size significantly affected the protein encapsulation efficiency and *in vivo* release profile [5].

The S/O/W method can be modified for peptides and some lowmolecular-weight proteins. It is expected that peptides and lowmolecular-weight proteins can be dissolved in dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) or methanol without inducing the loss of activity because they do not have advanced tertiary or quaternary structures. Based on this assumption, a method named "*in-situ* S/O/W method" was applied to insulin encapsulation. In this method, insulin is dissolved in DMSO first. The S/O emulsion is then dispersed into the PLGAdissolved DCM solution to generate microspheres [27]. Similarly, orntide acetate and leuprolide (peptides, luteinizing hormonereleasing hormone antagonist) is dissolved in methanol and dispersed in PLGA solution to obtained microspheres [28,29]. This modified method usually generates microspheres with a high EE.

2.3. W/O/O method (coacervation method)

In the W/O/O (coacervation or phase separation) method, two steps replace the secondary emulsion formation step in the W/O/W method. The first one is to add the primary emulsion into a nonsolvent in which polymer (e.g., PLGA) has no or negligible solubility. Commonly used nonsolvents for PLGA are poly(dimethyl siloxane) (PDMS), known as silicon oil, and petroleum ether [30]. Under stirring, the polymer undergoes phase separation to form the coacervate phase. With the solvent gradually extracted from the coacervate phase, the polymer enriched, physically stabled coacervate droplets are formed. The second step is to add a large volume of hardening agent, which is miscible only with the oil phase, i.e., solvent for the polymer and nonsolvent, into this two-phase system. The commonly used hardening agents are hexane and octamethylcyclotetrasiloxane. Extraction of solvent and nonsolvent results in formation of hardened microspheres [31,32]. The W/O/O method has been used to make many PLGA/PLA microspheres containing different proteins and peptides, including bovine serum albumin (BSA) [33,34], vapreotide acetate (somatostatin analogue) [35], and MVFMF2 (peptide epitope for HTLV-1) [8].

2.4. S/O/O method

The non-aqueous approach to make microspheres is thought to have advantages in protein stability. It is assumed that the procedureinduced protein structural change can be minimized and, thus, the protein bioactivity can be retained by dispersing protein powders into organic solvent to restrict the conformational rigidity of proteins and by excluding water in the whole manufacturing process [36]. In the S/ O/O method, solid protein is directly dispersed either in an organic solvent and then mixed with polymer solution, or in the polymer solution to form the primary emulsion followed by the standard coacervation procedure [36,37].

In a modified method known as the spinning oil film (SOF) method, the coacervate droplets are introduced into a spinning cottonseed oil film at a controllable flow rate so that the shear generated by the spinning film separates the droplets to produce uniform microspheres [38]. This method resulted in more uniform microspheres, higher encapsulation efficiency, and lower initial burst release of protein as compared with microspheres produced by a conventional emulsification technique.

2.5. Spray drying and spray freeze-drying method

In spray drying method, protein solution or emulsion (W/O or S/O) is sprayed into the air for atomization, usually at an elevated temperature to evaporate the organic solvent [31]. The properties of final microspheres depend on the nature of the feeding flow (solution or W/O emulsion) as well as the operational parameters such as flow rate and inlet temperature [2]. As a one-step method, the main advantages of spray drying include the easy control of microsphere properties by changing the operational parameters, and the convenience in scale-up [39]. However, high operational temperature, separation of final particles, and product loss in commercial lab-scale spray-dryer are the problems [2,40]. The spray drying method was used to make microparticles containing insulin [41,42], tetanus toxoid (TT) [43,44], vapreotide [45], recombinant human erythropoietin (rhEPO) [39,46], and BSA [39,40].

As a way to avoid high temperature associated with the spray drying process, spray freeze-drying method have been studied to make PLGA microparticles of human growth hormone [47–49], nerve growth factor (rhNGF) [50], human vascular endothelial growth factor (rhVEGF) [51], and insulin-like growth factor-1 (rhIGF-1) [7]. The first step in the freeze-drying method is to spray a protein solution into liquid nitrogen, followed by lyophilization. Then, the protein particles are suspended in the polymer solution to form S/O emulsion. An ultrasonic nozzle is used to spray the S/O emulsion into a vessel containing frozen ethanol overlaid with liquid nitrogen. After submerged in liquid nitrogen bath to keep ethanol frozen, the vessel is transferred to a -80 °C freeze where the ethanol melts and organic solvent extraction occurs. The microspheres are solidified for three days and ready to be dried by passing through nitrogen gas at 2–8 °C [52].

2.6. Ultrasonic atomization method

Preparation of microparticles by the ultrasonic atomization method is relative new. However, it has shown some advantages in generating microparticles using ultrasonic transducers, which include simplicity in operation ("one-step" operation), aseptic processability, and continuous production. The Precision Particle Fabrication (PPF) was developed by combining ultrasonic nozzle (single or coaxial needle) and a carrier stream (nonsolvent of the polymer) flowing around the nascent microdroplets. As the polymer solution passes through the vibrating nozzle, the mechanic excitation launches a wave of acoustic energy along the liquid flow, generates the periodic instabilities, and consequently the stream is broken to form uniform microdroplets. These microdroplets are surrounded by the carrier stream at the nozzle and travel with it toward the aqueous bath. With the solvent evaporation, the microdroplets are solidified to form microspheres [10,53]. The major advantage of this method is that the different sizes of uniformed microspheres can be generated by changing the nozzle diameter, vibration frequency, the flow rate of the polymer and the carrier stream. It should be noted that by the mixing the microspheres of different sizes, the protein release pattern can be finely tuned. With the correct combination, the liner release kinetic can be achieved [54]. By pumping two different polymer solutions through the coaxial nozzle, furthermore, uniformed doublewalled polymer microcapsules with controlled shell thickness can be fabricated [55].

The ultrasonic system developed by Freitas et al. consists of three major units [56]. The first unit is a simple mixer that generate W/O coarse emulsion. The second unit is ultrasonic flow-through cell which has a high pressurized water jacket so that the high-intensity ultrasound can be transmitted to the flow-through coarse emulsion. The pressure in the transmitting water is maintained above the threshold to guarantee the breakage of flow-through coarse emulsion into fine emulsion under the acoustic energy [57]. Then the fine

emulsion is transferred to the third unit, a static micromixer, to form the W/O/W double emulsion by introducing the extraction fluid though the microchannels in the micromixer. Two flows, emulsion and extraction fluids, alternatively pass through the microchannels and become mixed at the outlet. Owing to the much faster flow rate of extraction fluid, the emulsion flow disintegrated into droplets. Finally, the double emulsion is collected and further solidified to form microspheres. The mean diameter of the microspheres can be tuned by changing the flow rate of two liquids, the sonication power and time. However, the particles size distribution is relatively broad [56,58,59].

The microdispenser system, developed by Yoon et al., contains two inkjet nozzles [60,61]. After individually pumping the protein and the polymer solutions into separate nozzles, uniformed droplets are generated at the tip of each nozzle by the high frequency vibration induced by a frequency generator. The setup of the two nozzles is finely tuned to make these two kinds of droplets collide in the air, so that organic solution spreads on the surface of the aqueous droplets owing to their differences in surface tension. The incipient microcapsules are formed by solvent exchange and collected in the aqueous bath containing emulsifier. The dual microdispenser system, however, has an inherent limitation in generating large quantity of droplets. The setup of this system requires high precision alignment, which is complicated for scale-up production. This problem can be overcome by using an ultrasonic atomizer to generate microdroplets in large quantities. When the ultrasonic atomizer vibrates in a direction parallel to the central axis of the transducers, the liquid spreads on the tip of the front horn and absorb energy to break into a large amount of microdroplets [62]. Obviously, the ultrasonic atomizer system is easy to setup and to scale-up for mass production. Felder et al. used ultrasonic atomizer to generate microspheres by introducing protein containing W/O emulsion into the atomizer [63]. The atomized droplets are collected in a defined volume of hardening agent. The encapsulation study of BSA, thymocartin, and vapreotide pamoate (somatostatin analogue) showed low encapsulation efficiency of water-soluble proteins. The so-called "coaxial nozzle" design, in which two concentric nozzles with the different inner diameters share the same axis, can atomize protein and polymer flow at the tip without any premixing. Upon atomizing these two solutions by vibrating at a certain frequency, organic polymer and aqueous droplets are formed and collide. Due to their differences in surface tension, organic solution spreads on the surface of the aqueous droplets and the incipient microcapsules are formed, just like the way that the microcapsules are formed by the microdispenser method. These microcapsules are collected in aqueous bath containing an emulsifier [64,65].

2.7. Electrospray method

A well-known application of the electrospray is mass spectrometry. It can successfully produce a gas phase consisting of multiply charged ions from biological macromolecules (DNA, protein) existing in an aqueous phase [66]. One of the attractive features of this method is the ability to easily produce monodisperse droplets in different sizes [67]. Basically, the electrospray system includes a liquid delivery system (pump), a needle with high electric potential, and a grounded electrode which is in a short distance away from the needle. In the absence of electric field, a drop at the tip of needle grows until its mass exceeds the surface tension of the liquid at the needle-drop interface. When a high electric field is applied, the solution at the tip of the needle forms a conical meniscus (Taylor cone). Then, the jet emerging from the apex breaks into monodisperse droplets. There is no coalescence between these highly charged droplets because of electrostatic repulsion [68,69]. The advance in application of electrospray for microparticle generation has made the protein encapsulation possible, and the examples are insulin nanoparticles [70], β - tricalcium phosphate (β -TCP) in chitosan microspheres [71], and PLGA microparticles [55]. Currently, only BSA has been successfully encapsulated into PLA and PLGA polymers by passing primary W/O emulsion through the charged nozzle. Applied voltage, emulsion flow rate, polymer concentration, and type of solvent affect the property of microspheres [68,69,72]. Micro- or nanoparticles can be produced by applying several kilovolts electrical potential to charge the fluid filled in the outer nozzle of the two concentrically located nozzles. The size of microcapsules is determined by the potential difference of inner and outer needle and the flow rate of two flows. These results indicate the possibility to generate protein-encapsulated microcapsules by pumping through protein and polymer solution simultaneously through the charged concentric nozzles [67].

2.8. Microfluidic methods

Recently, microfluidic devices have gained interests owing to the flexibility to generate microdroplets with controlled internal morphology. Nowadays, most studies focus on the possibility to form oil microdroplets which contain different numbers of aqueous cores. Tan et al. showed the encapsulation of green fluorescent protein (GFP) in dioleoyl-sn-glycero-3-phosphocholine (DOPC) vesicle. However, there is no further information regarding to particle size and EE [73]. There are two strategies prevailing in designing microfluidic systems. One maintains the traditional simple channel design but with different hydrophobic or hydrophilic coating on the inner channel wall. By controlling diameter, hydrophobicity of the channel, sequence of aqueous or organic flow going through the channels, and flow rate, the polymer droplets with controlled size and aqueous core can be obtained [74–76]. The other strategy is to force three flows (aqueous, organic, and bath) to enter a welldesigned device at the same time. By controlling the flow rate of each stream, desired size of the microparticles can be obtained [77–81]. The setup of this kind of device is much complicated compared with the previous methods, but the control of the system seems easier to achieve, and microdroplets with one or more aqueous cores can be easily obtained.

2.9. Pore-closing method and thermoreversible-gel method

Kim et al. created a novel technique to close microsphere pores for rhGH encapsulation. The first step is to make PLGA porous microspheres. The blend of Pluronic[®] F127 and PLGA is dissolved in DCM and form O/W emulsion in PVA solution. After microspheres are hardened and freeze-dried, the rhGH is loaded by dipping these microspheres in rhGH solution. The following pore-closing procedure can be accomplished in an aqueous environment or in ethanol vapor condition [82].

Thermoreversible-gel method employs the sol-gel transition of Pluronic F127 solution to encapsulate protein into microspheres. For example, when F127 solution of more than 20% concentration is warmed up to 10 °C, the liquid changes to gel. To make microspheres, first step is to dissolve BSA in 25% F127 solution at 4 °C, then the solution is heated to 37 °C for gelation. PLA solution in acetone is dispersed in gel at 37 °C using homogenizer and then is cooled down to 4 °C to have the gel to sol transition. Acetone diffuses to the aqueous solution, and a large volume of water is added into the system to completely extract acetone. Finally, solidified microspheres (TG-MS) are collected and washed. The confocal microscopy images indicated that the protein was distributed in the core of the polymer matrix. Due to reduced protein association on particle surface, the TG-MS showed a higher EE (93% vs. 72%) and lower initial burst release (about 30% vs. 50%) as compared with microspheres prepared by W/ O/W methods. The protein in the microspheres was sustained its release for 70 days [11].

Table 2 Characteristics of protein-encapsulated microspheres prepared by the W/O/W method.

References	[111]	[4]	[105]	[112,113]	[114]	[106]	[106]	[96]	[12]	[27]	[115]	[18]	[116]	[104]	[14]	[117]
Fabrication condition or formulation highlights	Sucrose coencapsulated with lysozyme at molar ratio of 37:1 (sucrose to lysozyme)	10% CD coencapsulated with rhEPO.	2% PVA coencapsulated with DGR, and 2.5% NaCl in the external aqueous phase.	Alginate hydrogel as a matrix for PLGA microspheres suppressed the initial burst and improved the release kinetics.	2.5% RSA, 2% NaHCO ₃ and 10% sucrose in internal aqueous phase, 10% sucrose and 1% PVA in external aqueous phase.	Solvent was rapidly removed by extraction with 100 ml of 2% aqueous isopropyl alcohol solution.	Solvent was rapidly removed by extraction with 100 ml of 2% aqueous isopropyl alcohol solution.	5% NaCl in 5% PVP external aqueous phase.	2% NaHCO ₃ and 10% sucrose in internal aqueous phase, 1% PVA and 10% sucrose in external aqueous phase.	200 µl 50 mg/ml swine insulin as internal aqueous phase. The primary emulsion was added into 200 ml 1% PVA solution.	Internal aqueous phase was PBS (pH 7.9) containing 5% HSA and different concentrations of PEG	Insulin 1% acetate acid solution (pH 2.8) was internal aqueous phase, and the primary emulsion was filtered through a porous glass membrane (pore size 2.8 µm) to 1% PVA.	10% NaCl in inner and external aqueous phase.	20% (v/v) glycerol coencapsulated with hCG and DCM:acetone (6:4) as PLGA organic solvent.	Second emulsion was formed in DCM-saturated 6% PVA solution at 4 °C. The solvent extraction phase contains 3.6% NaCl.	Internal aqueous phase was 0.1% BSA aqueous solution
Activity of released protein	Retain 42% of activity after 24 hours		Retain ~85% activity on day 15		Retain 80% of activity on day 60				<i>In vivo</i> serum highest anti-TT antibody tires 164 ug/ml	<u>à</u>	Active at least for 7 days			Serum IgG antibody responses up to 12 weeks		Active up to 65 days based on PC12 cell morphology
Protein- encapsulated	Lysozyme	rhEPO	DGR	BSA, VEGF	Lysozyme	BSA	Lysozyme	Ovalbumin	TT	Swine insulin	GDNF	Insulin	BSA	hCG	BSA	BDNF
Polymer and concentration (mg/ml)	PLGA, 129	PLGA, 304	PLGA, 80	PLGA	PLGA/PLA	PLGA, 200	PLGA, 200	PLA, 60	PLA, 50	PLGA, 50	PLGA/PEG	PLGA/PLA, 50/50	PLA, 265	PLGA, 12	PLGA, 200	PLGA/PLGA-PLL- PEG, 28.5
Protein encapsulation efficiency (%)	72	06	78	82-87	76	91	93	72	69	81	50-100	72	73	97	93	
Protein loading (%)	1.2	0.5	0.7		6.9	6.0	6.0	6.6	3.9	9.1	3-40	1.4	3.5	4.9	9.3	
Particle size (µm)	107	35	75	0.2-167	15~30	46	16	15	2~8		8-29			2	28	15
Burst release (%)	$20 \sim 60$	40	38	20-55	7	ŝ	6	5	10	23	6-45	1	2	20	33	Ŋ
ease profile type and ıracteristics	No release after the burst release in first 48 hours	No further release up to 60 davs	Slow release to 55% in 15 days	Slow release to 65-70% in 14 days	No release after the burst release in first 48 hours	Extremely slow release (linearly) to 12% in 30 davs	Extremely slow release (linearly) to 16% in 30 davs	Extremely slow release to 7.5% in 25 davs	Slow release to 29% in 120 days	Fast release to 60% in 5 days, slow release to 80% in next 20 days	Slow release to 12-50% after the burst	Slow release to 35% in 40 days	Gradual release to 40% in 22 davs	Gradual release to ~55% in 60 days	Gradual release to ~85% in 35 days	Slow release for 15 days after burst and gradual release to 95% for next 30 days
Relo	A	<	A	<	в	в	B	В	В	В	В	U	U	U	U	U

M. Ye et al. / Journal of Controlled Release 146 (2010) 241-260

Author's personal copy

[118]	[119]	[120]	[121]	[122]	[123]	[110]	[124]	[125]	[109]	[126]	[127]	[128]	[129]	[130]	[131]
Internal aqueous phase contained 8 or 16 mg HAp and 1 mg BSA in 250 µl BSA. MW of PLCA was varied (10, 25, and 90 KDa)	External aqueous phase was 0.5% PVA containing 0.9% NaCl (pH 7.4). Dermatan sulfate enhanced drug loading amount and efficience.	Condroitin sulfate A enhanced drug loading amount and efficiency.	Internal aqueous phase was PBS (pH 7.4) containing 2% protein. Oil phase was PLGA solution in acetonitrile/DCM (1:1) and external aqueous phase was 0 73% F68 in water	Internal aqueous phase was PBS (pH 7.0) containing poloxamer 118. PLGA with higher MW lowered initial burst and endooint of drug release.	Emulsified under ice cooling. 0.3 M phosphate buffer in exteranal aqueous phase.	40% glycol chitosan was coencapsulated with hssoreme 1% DVA hath with 0.9% NaCl	by polymer the forth and the polymer concentration, Release profile of lysozyme was essentially controlled by polymer degradation, initial polymer concentration, and volume ratio between disperse and continuous	pueses. 1 mg/ml PEG coencapsulated with BSA in PH 5.5 buffer with ionic strength 0.15 M. The w/o/w emulsion was formed in 0.5% PVA containing 0.5% NaCl	2.5% soluble starch, 5% PEG2000, and 10% SBE-CD coencapsulated with lysozyme, 3.3% SAIB and 83.3 ppm sorbitan monooleate 80 in polymer solution and 0.0% NACI in activation character above	concentration of the adjuvants, Concentration of the adjuvants, dimethyldocadecylammonium bromide (DDA) and trehalose 6,6'-dibehenate (TDB) was 20 and 2%, tresnertively	dropping chicospheres, shell structure was formed by dropping chicosan solution in acetic acid into liquid Daraffin/Snan 80 and curino by 7% TPP acureous solution	internal and external aqueous phases in aqueous passes in the period of	Internal aqueous phase was 10 mM PBS (pH 7.4)	First emulsion was formed by sonication (30 sec. 50 W) and second emulsion was prepared by homogenation in 8% PVA aqueous solution. 2% isopropanol in water was used to extract solvent.	Lysozyme was lyophilized i) with or ii) without docusate sodium salt (AOT) before emulsion
	Dematan sulfate reduced insoluble BSA formation	Condroitin sulfate A preserved secondary structure of insulin up to 20 davs	<i>In vivo</i> activity was maintained up to day 21		Gastric ulcer was cured 82% at day 11 after administration with does of 270 us/ko	Retain 95% of history 28	Retain 100% bioactivity of released lysozyme after 60 days		Retain 90% of bioactivity on day 60			No peptide degradation up to day 16	Active up to day 40 based on cell nroliferation assav	Retain <i>in vivo</i> activity up to week 27	Retain 100% activity up to day 53
BSA	BSA	Insulin	rhEGF	INF-α2b	rhEGF	Lysozyme	Lysozyme	BSA	Lysozyme	Ag85B-ESAT-6, a fusion protein of antigen subunit for tuberculosis	BSA	Exenatide	i) BSA ii) HGF	SPf66 malarial antigen	Lysozyme
PLGA/HAp, 100	PLGA, 200	PLGA, 200	PLGA, 50	PLGA, 150	PLA, 50	PLGA, 100	PLHMGA, 100-200	PLGA, 50	PLGA, 100	PLGA/DDA and/or TDB, 30	PLGA, 100+ chitosan, 30	Acetylated pullulan, 7.7	PLGA/PHBV, 80	PLGA i) 75:25 and ii) 50:50, 50	PLGA/PLLA (50:50), 200
90-95	53-76	72–88	86		93	06	66–85	88	97	55-95		68–90	i) 91 ii) 89		12
25-82	0.7–9.7	2.2-2.6			1.8	15	3.7-7.5	1.7	16.4		2.6		i) 5 ii) 0.002	7-8	0.005
32-72	17-20	17-24	194	46-110	75	27	6.6-13.0	34	24	1.5-2.0	78	35-105	181	1.6–2	50-70
10-28	25-55	20-40	55	25-43	22	10	۲>	20	ч С	°.	$\overline{\vee}$	4-26	i) <1 ii) 18	i) 41 ii) 23	i) 30 ii) <1
Gradual release to 65% in 18 days	Gradual release to 90–100% in 24 days	Gradual release to 45-70% in 34 days	Gradual release to 95% in 24 days	Gradual release to 63–84% in 30 days	Gradual release to 60% in 11 days	Continuous release to 78% in 35 days	Continuous release to 52-73% in 60 days	Continuous release to 90% in 60 days	Nearly zero order release to 95% in 65 days	Continuous release to 70-80% in 25-75 days	Continuous release to 45% in 45 days	Continuous release to 87–95% in 20 days	Continuous release i) to 90% in 95 days, ii) to 50% in 110 days	 i) Gradual release to 80% in 190 days, ii) No release for 20 days after burst 20 lowed by fast release for over for over 70 days 	Gradual release i) to 75% in 150 days and
U	J	U	U	U	D	D	D	D	D	D	D	D	D	Ċ, D	C, D

247

Author's personal copy

M. Ye et al. / Journal of Controlled Release 146 (2010) 241-260

248 Table 3

Characteristics of protein-encapsulated microspheres prepared by the S/O/W method.

R	elease profile type nd characteristics	Burst release (%)	Particle size (µm)	Protein loading (%)	Protein encapsulation efficiency (%)	Polymer and concentration (mg/ml)	Protein- encapsulated	Activity of released protein	Fabrication condition or formulation highlights	References
A	Fast release to 90% in 6 days, no further release till	40		9.3	91	PLGA 50	Insulin		Insulin was dissolved in DMSO and dispersed into DCM to form fine particles	[27]
В	No further release	~15	111	4.3	85	PLGA 46	IgG		Zn:IgG ratio was 1:1	[22]
С	Gradual release to 50% in 30 days	~26	89	3.4	68	PLGA 80	Insulin	In vivo glucose concentration was below 20 mmol/l for 48 hours	Inner aqueous phase contained PMAA/ insulin complex suspension with ratio of 68:32 at pH 3.0	[134]
С	Gradual release to 90% in 35 days, no further release in next 25 days	~38	5	9.1	91	PLGA 180	α- Chymotrypsin		$\alpha\text{-chymotrypsin co-lyophilized with}$ MpCD at 1:4 mass ratio, s/o emulsion was homogenized in 50 ml 10% PVA	[135]
C	Gradual release to ~95% in 16 days	~35	31	6.5	93	PLGA 685	rhGH		Co-lyophilized with ammonium acetate at molar ratios of 20 times of rhGH, coencapsulated with 0.5% ZnO in PLGA	[5]
С	Gradual release to 100% in 62 days	30-35	40- 100	1.75– 2.5	39–55	PLGA, 100	BSA, horse myoglobin		Protein particles were prepared by lyophilization with 1% dextran and 8% PEG, followed by vacuum drying after removing PEG with DCM. Oil phase 1 and 2 were PLCA solution and hydrophilic oil (72.7% glycerol, 18.2% 2-isopropanol, 9.1% water, 1% PVA, 5% NaCl), respectively (5/0/0/W method).	[136]
D	Gradual release to 82% in 30 days, slow release to 100% in next 50 days	~22		7.6	76	PLGA 360	γ- Chymotrypsin	Retain 40% activity on day 7	γ -chymotrypsin co-lyophilized with PEG at 1:4 mass ratio, PEG co-dissolved with PLGA at 1:1 mass ratio, s/o emulsion is homogenized in 50 ml 10% PEG	[23]
D	Gradual release to 60% in 15 days	~10		3.0	100	PLGA784	Insulin	<i>In vivo</i> blood glucose level drop to normal between days 8 and 10	Glycerol was added to PLGA-insulin-ZnO DCM suspension until high transparent and viscous solution was obtained. Then, it was poured to 1% PVA and 7% zinc acetate dehydrate solution to form secondary emulsion	[137]
D	Gradual release to 96% in 25 days	~18	7	7.7	85	PLGA 80	BSA		BSA co-lyophilized with trehalose at ratio of 1:4, s/o emulsion was homogenized in 50 ml 10% PVA	[133]
D	Gradual release to 97% in 57 days (Measured at pH 4.0 with dialysis method)	7	~11	10.8	83	PLGA	Ornitide acetate		Ornitide acetate methanol solution was added to PLGA DCM solution to form clear solution. Then the solution was injected intol L 0.35% PVA phosphate buffer (pH 7.2) solution and homogenized at 5500 rpm. Vacuum dried.	[28]
D	Nearly zero order release to ~75% in 28 days	1	<10	2.2	88	PLGA/PLA 7/ 28 ^a	bSOD	Retain 100% activity in dried microspheres	Co-lyophilized with PEG 70 K at ratio 1:1, then add PLGA/PLA with a final ratio of bSOD:PEG70K:PLGA:PLA (2.5:2.5:19:76) with the total weight of 500 mg. Then 1350 mg DCM was added to dissolve the polymers. The primary emulsion was added in 0.25% methylcellulose solution at 15 °C to form secondary emulsion. Finally 400 ml DW was added and sterwise increased to 30 °C for 3 h	[132]
D	Nearly zero order release to ~90% in 150 days (Measured with dialysis method)	~10	52	13.4	81	PLA 340	Leuprolide	In vivo testosterone levels were suppressed to 0.5 ng/ml from day 4 to day 50	Leuprolide methanol solution was added into a 34% (w/w) PLA solution in DCM to form the clear solution. The resulting solution was then slowly injected into 0.35% PVA solution homogenized at 7000 rpm. Vacuum dried.	[29]
D	Gradual release to 100% in 130 days	20	21–24	7.2–7.8	37-40	PLGA	Bovine insulin	ýý	Alginate particles containing protein were suspended in PLGA solution (DCM). After sonication, it was emulsified in 6% PLA aqueous solution.	[138]

^a PLGA/PLA concentration is 7/28 mg/mg DCM.

Compared with traditional microencapsulation methods, these novel methods can generate microspheres with high EE with improved *in vitro* release kinetics. However, there are limited studies on bioactivity of

released protein. Following these initiative studies, the studies of process parameters optimization, formulation, variety of proteins encapsulation and the following release and activity study are demanded.

-1										
0	file type and characteristics	Burst release (%)	Particle size (µm)	Protein loading (%)	Protein encapsulation efficiency (%)	Polymer and concentration (mg/ml)	Protein- encapsulated	Activity of released protein	Fabrication condition or formulation highlights	References
o ti	further release after ial burst release	06~	1~3	6.2	83	PLGA, 38.9	Carbonic anhydrase	Retained 17% activity at 30 min	6% lecithin was added in protein phase. The primary emulsion was lyophilized and then dissolved in DCM. The PE nonsolvent volume to DCM was 50:1.	[30]
	further release after tial release in first five ys (to 40%) during a mrth long release study	~16	9	6.8	75	PLGA, 40	BSA		10 ml petroleum ether (PE69) containing 10% Span 80 as coacervating agent with a addition rate of 5.0 ml/min.	[108]
	ity slow release to 17% 50 days	12	44	1:1	35	PLGA, 100	Ħ	<i>In vivo</i> tetanus toxin IgG antibody remained ~2 AU/ml for 4 weeks	50 mg poloxamer 188 in TT solution was lyophilized to made TT particles. Then TT particle was suspended into PLGA acetonitrile solution. Cottonseed oil containing 0.05% soybean lecithin was used as monsolvent and PF is used as hardening agent	[37]
	st release to 75% for days followed by slow lease to 90% for next	25	2		51	PLGA	Insulin (crystal)	Secondary structure was maintained after encapsulation	Insulin (10 mg/ml) solution in 0.01 N HCl was mixed with PLGA solution in acetonitrile (1:5 volume ratio). Oil phase 2 was mineral oil containing 3% Span 80.	[139]
	ny initial burst was onitored	2-12	120	13.5	06	PLGA or PLA, 300~500	BSA		BSA solution was sprayed dried to form particles. PLGA acetonitrile solution was added in BSA acetonitrile suspension to form primary emulsion. Then 0.5% Span 85 partient was added to harden mirroscheres.	[3]
	adual release to ~35% 20 days	ы С	52	2.9	66	PLGA, 30	BSA		The primary emulsion was formed by ultractory homogenizer for 10 s at 180 W. Silicon oil containing 20% DCM was used as nonsolvent and PE was used as hardening asont	[33]
	adual release to ~75% 15 days	~ 20	84	0.5	06	PLGA, 0.18	Cytochrome <i>c</i>		Concerning userner added into PLGA triacetin solution to form oil phase 1. Oil phase 2 was formed by adding Span 80 in mighyol 812. Then the 01/02 emulsion was added in 1% PVA solution	[140]
_	adual release to 100% 50 days	5-10	1-10	9-10	91-101	PLGA, 20	Insulin (crystal)	Secondary structure was maintained after	PLGA solution in DMF containing insulin crystal PLGA solution in DMF containing insulin crystal (1:9 weight ratio) was homogenized in corn oil containing 1% Scan 83	[141]
	ow release to 2–14% in 5 days and gradual lease to 63% for next	6-11	123	10-15	81-100	PLGA, 500	BSA	TO TRANSPORT	BSA was spray freeze-dried with 2% trehalose to form briticles. 3% Mg(OH) ₂ or ZnCO ₃ was coencapsulated. Then s/o primary emulsion was pumped in a spinning oil film and frrmed mirrosnheres	[38]
	adual release to 	4-13	18-49		46-93	PLGA, 100	Endostatin	Retain bioactivity up to day 28	Primary w/o emulsion was formed by homogenation of PLGA solution (acetonitrile/DCM, 2 ml) and protein in water (10 mg/0.2 ml). Secondary emulsion was made by stirring w/o emulsion in liquid paraffin	[142,143]
0	o or slow release after burst lease (Higher concentration of gh MW PLGA and surfactant owed slower release)		1.5-8.5		6.4-101	PLGA (6 or 35.8 KDa), 16 or 32	Insulin (crystal)		Mixture of insulin in 0.01 NHCl solution and PLGA in Mixture of insulin in 0.01 NHCl solution and PLGA in acetonitrile (1:5 volume ratio) was dropped into mineral oil containing 0.3 or 3% Span 80	[144]
	lease profile depended on MW PLGA and existence of zinc	A, C: 40, B, D: 4–8	33-46	1.24- 1.44	93-94	PLGA 35 KDa (A, B) or 14 KDa (C, D), 100	Glucagon-like peptide-1	Retain bioactivity up to day 30	Peptide was micronized (A, C) or complexed with zinc (B, D), which was mixed with PLGA solution in acetonitrile. Mixture was dropped in cottonseed oil containing 3 mg/ml lecithin.	[145]

Table 4 Characteristics of protein-encapsulated microspheres prepared by the W/O/O (coacervation) and S/O/O method.

M. Ye et al. / Journal of Controlled Release 146 (2010) 241-260

Table 5 Characteristics of protein-encapsulated microspheres prepared by the spray drying method.

Release profile type and the articleBurstParticlePorteinProteinActivity of releasedFabrication condition or formulation highlightsReferences (c) <t< th=""></t<>
Release profile type and InitialParticle interseProtein addingPortein encapsulationPortein- activity of releasedFabrication condition or formulation lightightsA Norrelease burst release(%)(m)(x)(m)(x)(m)(x)(m)A Norrelease burst release(x)(m)(x)(m)(x)(m)(x)(m)B Norrelease burst release(x)(m)(x)(m)(x)(m)(x)(m)B Norrelease burst release(x)(x)(x)(x)(x)(x)(x)(x)B Norrelease burst release(x)(x)(x)(x)(x)(x)(x)(x)C Fast release(x)(x)(x)(x)(x)(x)(x)(x)(x)(x)C Fast release(x)(x)(x)(x)(x)(x)(x)(x)(x)(x)(x)C Fast release(x)(x)(x)(x)(x)(x)(x)(x)(x)(x)(x)(x)D S days(x)
Release profile type and characteristicsBurstParticle itProtein concentrationActivity of released totein($taracteristics$ release ($tarn)$)($tarn)$)($tarn)$)($tarn)$)($tarn)$ Activity of released totein(x)($tarn)$)(x)($tarn)$)(x)($tarn)$)(x)Activity of released toreinANo release after initial-6018360PLGA, 50BSABNo release after initial1570.5100PLGA, 50ThEPOBNo release tor -98%-301378PLGA, 50VapreotideDFast release toradual release tor -98%-301378PLGA, 50VapreotideDGradual release tor -98%-201-155.965PLGA, 50VapreotideBNo release tor -98%-201-155.965PLGA, 20NapreotideDGradual release to-201-155.965PLGA, 20NapreotideDGradual release to-201-1520PLGA, 170rhUCF1Nvo generate aDGradual release to-100210100100rhVo generate aDGradual release to-101210100rhVo generate aDGradual release to-10101211Nvo generate aDGradual release to-1012110responseDGradual r
Release profile type and characteristicsBurst releaseParticle sizeProtein lodingProtein encapsulationProtein- concentrationProtein- encapsulationANo release burst release(χ)(μ m)(χ)efficiency (χ)(m g/m)encapsulationANo release after initial burst release-6018360PLGA, 50BSABNo release after initial burst release-501378100PLGA, 50rhPCACFast release-311378PLGA, 10BSAburst release313378PLGA, 50Vapreotideburst release318787PLGA, 50Vapreotideburst release317878PLGA, 50Vapreotideburst release31878787PLGA, 50Vapreotideburst release-201-155.965PLGA, 50VapreotideBox in 28 days-80% in 28 days-80% in 28 days202.5100PLGA, 50VapreotideC fradual release to-80% in 28 days-100% in 30 days2.62.0PLGA, 170rhHCF-1C fradual release to-100% in 30 days-100% in 30 days2.0-100% in 30 daysrhHCF-1C fradual release to-100% in 35 days-10121.186PLGA, 170rhHCF-1C fradual release to-100% in 35 days-10121.186PLGA, 170rhHC
Release profile type and characteristicsBurst releaseParticle sizeProtein loadingProtein encapsulationPolymer and concentrationANo release after initial<60
Release profile type and characteristicsBurst releaseParticle sizeProtein loadingProtein encapsulationANo release after initial burst release (x) (μm) (x) (x) (x) ANo release after initial burst release -60 18 3 60 (x) BNo release after initial burst release -50 18 3 60 burst release 15 7 0.5 100 burst release 31 78 78 burst release to $\sim 98\%$ ~ 30 113 78 burst release to 31 8.7 8.7 87 burst release to -20 $1-15$ 5.9 65 $\sim 80\%$ in 28 days 0 2.5 100 $0 Gradual release to262020\sim 100\% in 30 days0-100\% in 30 days90 Gradual release to\sim 1012110 Gradual release to\sim 10121000 Gradual release to\sim 1012110 Gradual release to\sim 1012110 Gradual release to\sim 10121100 Gradual release to\sim 10<$
Release profile type and characteristicsBurst release sizeParticle ioading (%)Protein ioading (%)ANo release after initial burst release ~ 60 183BNo release after initial burst release 15 7 0.5 BNo release after initial burst release 15 7 0.5 CFast release 31 8.7 33 CFast release to cadual release to 31 8.7 8.7 S0% in 28 days 30 $1-15$ 5.9 5.9 CGradual release to 200% in 28 days 26 20 2.5 94% in 35 days 26 20 2.5 9.4% DGradual release to $\sim 100\%$ in 30 days 26 20 9 DGradual release to $\sim 100\%$ in 30 days 26 20 9 DGradual release to $\sim 100\%$ in 30 days 20 9 9 DGradual release to $\sim 100\%$ 26 20 9 DGradual release to $\sim 100\%$ 26 1.1 10 DGradual release to $\sim 100\%$ -100 12 1.1 DGradual release to $\sim 100\%$ 20 12 1.1 DGradual release to $\sim 100\%$ -100% 12 1.1 DCradual release to $\sim 10\%$ -100% 12 1.1 DCradual release to $\sim 10\%$ -10% 12 1.1 DCradual release to $\sim 10\%$ <td< td=""></td<>
Release profile type and characteristicsBurst releaseParticle hurstANo release after initial burst release($\%$)(μ m)ANo release after initial burst release5018BNo release after initial157burst release313131CFast release to burst release3193CGradual release to s0% in 28 days3110BGradual release to s0% in 28 days201-15CGradual release to s0% in 28 days3131BGradual release to s0% in 28 days2610CGradual release to s0% in 28 days2610DGradual release to s100% in 30 days2610DGradual release to s100% in 35 days2110DGradual release to s100% in 30 days2110DGradual release to s100% in 30 days2110DGradual release to s100% in 25 days2110DGradual release to s100 in 25 days2112DCradual release to s100 in 25 days2112DCradual release to s0% in scro order21012DCradual release to s0% in scro order21012DCradual release to s0% in scro order21012DCradual release to s0% in scro order21012DCradual release to s0% in scro order21
Release profile type and Burst characteristicsBurst release (%)A No release after initial burst release60 burst releaseB No release after initial-60 burst releaseC Fast release burst release31 burst releaseC Gradual release to n 80% in 28 days31 80% in 28 daysD Gradual release to - 80% in 28 days-20 20 - 80% in 28 daysD Gradual release to - 80% in 28 days-20 20 - 80% in 28 daysD Gradual release to - 80% in 28 days0 - 20 - 200 - 80% in 28 daysD Gradual release to - 100% in 30 days-10 - 100 - 100D Gradual release to - 100 in 25 days-10 - 10D Gradual release to - 200% in 35 days-10 - 10D Gradual release to - 100 in 25 days-10 - 10D Gradual release to - 200% in 35 days-10 - 10
Release profile type and characteristics A No release after initial burst release B No release after initial burst release to Fast release to ~98% in 8 days C Gradual release to 80% in 28 days C Gradual release to ~80% in 28 days D Gradual release to 94% in 35 days D Gradual release to ~100% in 35 days >90% in 35 days D Gradual release to ~100 in 25 days

Table 6 Characteristics of protein-encapsulated microspheres prepared by the ultrasonic atomization method.

	References	[53]	[64]	[63]	[63] [56]
	Fabrication condition or formulation highlights	The aqueous solution containing 10 mg/ml BSA/100 mg/ml dextran and PLGA solution are pumped individually through the ultrasonic nozzle which was surrounded by a carrier stream containing 0.5% PVA.	PLGA solution and lysozyme solution containing 10% mannose were fed individually through the ultrasonic atomizer. Microcapsules were collected in 0.5% PVA bath containing 0.28 M NaCL.	w/o emulsion was fed through the ultrasonic atomizer	w/o emulsion was fed through the ultrasonic atomizer Flow through ultrasonic emulsification combined with static micromixing
	Activity of released protein				
	Protein- encapsulated	BSA	Lysozyme ^a	Vapreotide pamoate	BSA BSA
	Polymer and concentration (mg/ml)	PLGA, 50	PLGA, 50	PLGA, 100	PLA, 200 PLGA, 60
	Protein encapsulation efficiency (%)	~ 100	71	93	24 73
	Protein loading (%)		3.4	9.3	0.5 4.1
	Particle size (µm)	~ 110	85		36
	Burst release (%)	$\overline{\nabla}$	۲Ū ۲	28	33
and a second of the second of the second sec	Release profile type and characteristics	C In the first 30 days, BSA was slowly released to 20% followed by fast release for next 10 days. By the end of 40 days, around 70% of BSA was released. In the following 20 days, release continued to 95% or so	C Slow release to 20% in 24 days	C Gradual release to \sim 75% in 28 days, no further release in following days	C Gradual release to ~95% in 98 days

250

M. Ye et al. / Journal of Controlled Release 146 (2010) 241-260

vas added.

References [146]Ξ 68 72 [82] Thermorever-Supercritical Electrospray Electrospray Pore-closing sible gel Method fluid BSA was dissolved in 25% Pluronic[®] F127 at 4 °C and waited for hGC micronized by spray drying or nanosized by zinc-induced and exipients (Poloxamer 407 or Poloxamer 188 and/or Soluto gelation at 37 °C. PLA solution in acetone was dispersed in the into a pressure vessel with PLGA/PLA Porous microsphere was made from PLGA and Pluronic[®] F127 organic phase: aqueous phase = 20:1. Then w/o emulsion was 10% Pluronic[®] F127 was dissolved in PLGA DCM solution. w/o gel. Then the dispersion was cool to 4 °C and 40 ml DI water mixture. Pore-closing process was performed in an ethanol w/o emulsion was formed at a ratio of BSA: PLA = 1:6 and emulsion was fed through electrospray system. Activity of released Fabrication condition or formulation highlights vapor phase using a fluidized bed reactor. fed through electrospray system. precipitation was loaded HS15). Retain 100% activity after encapsulation protein encapsulated ProteinrhGH hGH BSA BSA BSA PLGA/ Pluronic® concentration Polymer and PLGA/PLA PLGA, 100 (mg/ml) PLA, 30 PLA, 83 F127 Characteristics of protein-encapsulated microspheres prepared by other methods. encapsulation % efficiency 97-100 Protein 89 93 81 17 loading Protein 11.6 6.9 $^{<}10$ ŝ 8 Particle 26-128 size (µm) 4.0 20 20 release 38-53 Burst 土 1.1 ~22 % 6.2 ŝ 7 Fast release to 42-75% Slow release to $\sim 28\%$ Release profile type and release to $\sim 70\%$ in release to $\sim 75\%$ in Gradual release to Nearly zero order Nearly zero order ~100% in 72 days characteristics in 4 days in 3 days 38 days 38 days

Table 7

×

Ω

В

Δ

Ω

2.10. Microfabrication method

Recently, microfabrication techniques have been used widely to prepare microparticles. The particle replication in non-wetting templates (PRINT) method was developed for making microparticles using fluoropolymer-based templates [83-86]. Other microfabrication approach includes microcontact hot printing [87], step and flash imprint lithography [88], and the hydrogel template method [89]. A variety of particles containing different drugs, mostly low-molecular weight hydrophobic drugs, and not many protein drugs have been used in such methods. Also, the topic of microfabrication deserves a separate review, and thus, this particular approach is not considered here.

3. Characterization of microparticles

Complete characterization of microparticles requires examination of several parameters, and the following parameters are chosen for a comparative study in this review: type of release profile, burst release, particle size, protein loading amount (or capacity), protein encapsulation efficiency, polymer concentration, and protein-encapsulated for study. The summaries of comparison of many different formulations are listed in Tables 2-7, and the detailed discussion on each table is described below. The influence of operational parameters for the W/ O/W approach on the particle size, protein encapsulation efficiency, protein activity, and in vitro release are discussed in detail, because the W/O/W method has been the most commonly used for protein microencapsulation. These characteristics also apply to other double emulsion methods and those methods which collect microparticles in the aqueous phase. If not clarified, the discussion is for the W/O/W method. The unique properties of other methods are addressed individually.

3.1. Protein release profiles

The ultimate goal of making microparticles is to release the loaded protein drug in a controlled manner to achieve the desired therapeutic effects. Although the protein release profiles from various microparticle formulations appear to be all different, they can be classified into four distinct categories (Types A, B, C, and D) as shown in Fig. 2. The categories are based on the magnitude of the initial burst release, the extent of protein release, and the steady state release kinetics following the burst release. The burst release is regarded as the initial release before reaching the steady state. Since the time to reach the steady state is quite often not clear, here the burst release is regarded as the release in the first 24 h. In Types A and B, the initial burst release is followed by little additional release. In most cases, the amount of the protein released after the initial burst release is very small. The release profile in Type C is similar to that in type A in terms of the high initial burst, but the burst release is followed by the steady state release of the remaining protein drug. If a formulation has the initial burst release of less than 30% but with more than 60% of the total release, it is categorized as Type C. Type D is considered to be the most ideal release profile, as the low initial burst release is followed by steady state release until most of the loaded protein is released.

Because of their large size and hydrophilic nature, protein drugs are not expected to be released until biodegradable polymers degrade to expose the protein drugs. Nevertheless, protein drugs are quite often released much before degradation of polymers, e.g., PLGA, occurs. Thus, protein drugs are most likely released through pores or channels formed in the microparticles (Fig. 1). In the beginning, water enters the pores on the surface to dissolve the protein for release. Usually the amount of protein release per unit time is the largest in the beginning, and thus the initial burst release is observed [90]. The initial burst release can be as high as 80% (Type A in Fig. 2), and this can be reduced significantly by closing the pores or channels. In one

M. Ye et al. / Journal of Controlled Release 146 (2010) 241-260



Fig. 2. Four categories of *in vitro* protein release profiles. (A) High initial burst release (>30%) followed by little additional release. (B) Low initial burst release (<30%) followed by little additional release. (C) High initial burst release (>30%) followed by steady state release. (D) Low initial burst release (<30%) followed by steady state release.

example, it was shown that high humidity treatment (24 h in 75% humidity) of PLGA microspheres with added Triton X-100 could decrease the initial burst release from 80% to 30% due to closing of the surface pores and channels by increased polymer chain mobility which is induced by the surfactant [91]. With polymer degradation, the osmotic pressure generated by dissolved protein, excipients, and degradation products is strong enough to break pre-closed pores and open previous isolated pores [92]. In short, the protein release is highly related with the pore status during protein release [90].

Any parameter for microsphere fabrication or formulation which can alter the dynamic transition of the pore opening and closing can effectively modify the protein release profile. For example, addition of a protein stabilizer, such as trehalose, PEG, vitamin E α -tocopheryl polyethylene glycol 100 succinate (TPGS), can facilitate the release of protein from microspheres by generating porous matrix after fast dissolution [13,93]. When phosphatidylcholine was added into a PLGA solution, both burst release and the subsequent protein release were suppressed due to its resistance to water uptake [94].

When water insoluble bases, such as $MgCO_3$, $ZnCO_3$, and $Mg(OH)_2$, are incorporated into microspheres, they build up osmotic pressure due to its neutralization effect of water-soluble acidic products out of polymer degradation. The high osmotic pressure results in a fast protein release from microspheres. Besides, the existence of osmotic pressure during microsphere preparation process can affect the internal structure of the microspheres, in turn; the protein release kinetics is influenced. Addition of salt or buffer in protein solution generates high osmotic pressure in the aqueous core, and thus the internal structure of microspheres tends to be porous and less dense. This results in a fast release of protein. If this osmotic pressure in the aqueous core is balanced by adding salt or buffer in the external aqueous bath, the microspheres will be denser and less porous. Naturally, the protein burst release is suppressed and a more progressive release profile is obtained [6,95-97]. The internal structure of microsphere can be affected by the PLGA composition (i.e., lactic acid to glycolic acid ratio), protein to organic solution ratio, and fabrication temperature. The internal structure in turn influences the protein release [1,98–100].

For the microspheres made by S/O/O method, the protein particle size is crucial to the initial burst release [101]. The encapsulation of nano-scale protein particles can decrease the initial burst release at the moderate protein loading (e.g., 5%) [3,38]. Incorporation of poloxamer (e.g., Pluronic[®] F68) in polymer phase during the fabrication process is reported to have decreased the initial burst and prolonged the sustained release [36]. Leach et al. studied the effect of polydispersity of microspheres on the burst release using microspheres produced by the revised S/O/O method. The results indicate that the microparticles with broader size distribution exhibit higher initial burst release [3].

3.2. Particle size

3.2.1. W/O/W method

The particle size and size distribution of microspheres prepared by the W/O/W method are mainly determined by the emulsification

method used for forming a primary emulsion. In general, microspheres made by mechanical stirring or vortex mixing are larger than those by sonication [102,103]. As the stirring rate increases, the particle size decreases [13,98,100,104]. The volume of aqueous and polymer phases also affects the particle size. Because the increased volume of the internal aqueous phase generates greater resistance to mechanical breakdown during emulsification, the particle size increases accordingly [15]. Osmotic pressure is a factor in determining the particle size as well. The influx or outflux of water generated by the osmotic pressure determines the volume of the inner aqueous phase, and thus the size of solidified microspheres [95,105]. Increase in the processing temperature results in the increase in the mean particle size with a broad size distribution [99].

The presence of PVA in the external aqueous bath influences the particle size in two different ways. Increase of the PVA concentration increases the viscosity of the external aqueous phase, resulting in the increase of particle size. It is more difficult to break up aqueous solution to smaller droplets under the same mixing power, resulting in formation of larger particles [100,104–106]. At the same time, however, the presence of PVA stabilizes double emulsion droplets against coalescence, leading to smaller microspheres. In most experimental conditions, the stabilization effect dominates, and thus, smaller microspheres are formed [98,100]. The higher PVA concentration also produced smaller microspheres with a narrow size distribution for the membrane emulsification method [18].

3.2.2. S/O/W

Similar to W/O/W method, the emulsification power in generating secondary emulsion has a profound influence on the particle size and protein encapsulation efficiency. The higher the emulsification intensity is, the smaller particles with the higher encapsulation efficiency are obtained [107].

3.2.3. W/O/O

Similar to W/O/W method, the particle size and size distribution of microspheres are influenced by stirring rate, the type of nonsolvent phase volumes and viscosities, polymer concentration, and polymer molecular weight. When the viscosity of the nonsolvent is increased, the smaller and narrower microspheres are obtained. This can be explained by the increased shear force facilitating the breakdown of large coacervate droplets [34]. The stirring rate in at coacervating step also influences particle size. The higher stirring rate produces smaller coacervate droplets, so as to microspheres [108]. Raising the polymer concentration increases the coacervate viscosity and results in the production of larger coacervate droplets. Therefore, the larger and broader microspheres are obtained [33,34,108]. In addition, the volume of each phase, such as polymer phase, protein solution, the coacervating agent, all affects the particle size. Microspheres with the decreased mean size are generated when the volume of coacervating agent is increased. While the particle size increases and size distribution are broadened as the volume of protein solution increases [33].

3.3. Protein loading capacity

There have been numerous microspheres containing various protein drugs, but the protein loading capacity and protein encapsulation efficiencies have not been compared for different formulations. Tables 2–7 summarize the information categorized by the microparticle fabrication method. When the experimental parameters are not clearly described in the references, they were calculated from the information described in experimental methods. The average drug loading capacity in various microparticles summarized in the tables is $6.7 \pm 4.6\%$, and it mostly ranges from 0.5% to 20.0%.

The proteins or peptides listed in Table 2 are successfully encapsulated in the PLGA or PLA microspheres with high EE using W/O/W method. Many examples indicate that the inclusion of protein protecting agent and the balance of osmotic pressure between internal and external aqueous phases are the key to obtain the high EE. The lysozyme encapsulated microspheres showed high encapsulation efficiencies (\geq 90%) and near zero order or triphasic release kinetics with the low burst effect ($\leq 10\%$). In this study, protein stabilizers were coencapsulated with the protein solution, and the osmotic pressure was balanced by addition of salt in the external aqueous phase [109,110]. When protein release is considered, most of microspheres in Table 2 do not have adequate protein release in 30 days following the initial burst release. The initial burst release is usually associated with the surface protein, and the incomplete protein release is commonly attributed to the denatured protein in the microspheres [90,111]. These results imply that maintaining intact protein structure during release is important to obtain continues protein release from the microspheres. Addition of counter base can effectively reduce the protein aggregation induced by the local acidic environment, but results in a fast protein release (this discussed below in Section 3.4.1). Therefore, the new protein stabilization method is necessary to improve the protein release from the microspheres. For example, Lee et al. applied glycol chitosan (GC) as the acidic microenvironment modifier because its degradation product (fragmented GCs, hydrolyzed by lysozyme) can form ionic complexes with lactic acid and glycolic acid [110].

The protein containing microparticles listed in Table 3 are prepared by S/O/W methods. Most of them were prepared by encapsulating the protein particles which are protected by excipient (s) during micronization, and obtained better protein release profiles (Types C and D). These results indicate the necessity to protect protein from denaturation in manufactory process. Microspheres generated by the S/O/W methods do not necessarily have higher encapsulation efficiency than W/O/W method [22]. Compared with traditional S/O/ W methods, the novel method using PEG as protein micronization adjuvant encapsulated bovine superoxide dismutase with high EE of 88% and retained activity. The in vitro release showed a near zeroorder release kinetics for 28 days at low initial burst release [132]. The trehalose-protected BSA particles-incorporated microspheres prepared by Castellanos et al. also showed superior characteristics. These microspheres have almost linear in vitro release profile with the moderate high BSA loading of 7.7% and encapsulation efficiency of 85% [133]. The so-called "in-situ S/O/W" method encapsulated luteinizing hormone-releasing hormone (LHRH) antagonist peptides with high encapsulation efficiency (81-83%) and high loading (>10%). And the in vitro release kinetics show good linear trends [28,29].

Table 4 lists the properties of microspheres made by W/O/O and S/O/O method. Most of them have high encapsulation efficiency (>75%). However, as compared with microparticles prepared by the W/O/W and S/O/W methods, those by the W/O/O and S/O/O methods are less successful when the release kinetics is considered. These microspheres have only 35–75% of protein release. The incomplete protein release implies that the preparation methods and formulations have not protected proteins adequately against denaturation. The SOF method, a revised S/O/O method, produced BSA-containing micro-

spheres with a uniform size with a polydispersity of 6%. Furthermore, the high encapsulation efficiency (81–100%) under high loading (10–15%) and the low initial burst release (6–11%) could be achieved. The easy adjustment of the S/O emulsion flow rate and the rotor speed to fine-tune particle size makes this method very attractive [38].

Most microspheres made by spray freeze-drying showed a better release kinetics. The initial burst releases are small (around 10% for most proteins) and more than 80% of encapsulated proteins are released in a period of 30 days or so. However, there is limited information about particle size, loading, and encapsulation efficiency. These characteristics plus the information of microspheres made by spray drying method are all listed in Table 5. The encapsulation of insulin and vapreotide in acidic solution followed by spray drying produced microspheres with good properties but with small loading (2.5%) of insulin or high burst release (31%) of vapreotide [35,42].

In Table 6, microparticles were made using ultrasonic atomization methods. These microparticles all show reasonably good protein release profiles. For microcapsules made by Precision Particle Fabrication (PPF), the particle size is precisely controlled within 2 µm of the mean size. BSA, a model protein, was almost 100% encapsulated. However, the *in vitro* release profile showed a pulsatile pattern [53]. Due to the novelty of ultrasonic atomization method, most of the study focused on encapsulation of BSA, so there exists only limited information about the retention of protein activity. In addition, formulation studies were limited as well. Nevertheless, this method is promising by its advantages, such as relatively simple instrument setup, the ability to scale-up, and controllability of the size and morphology (microspheres or microcapsules).

Table 7 provides the characteristics of microparticles made by electrospray, pore-closing and thermoreversible-gel method. The microparticles made by these methods have good properties on particle size, encapsulation efficiency and release kinetics. Because they are newly developed methods, more studies need to be done to examine various parameters important to making protein formulations.

3.4. Encapsulation efficiency

3.4.1. W/O/W method

The loss of protein during the microparticle preparation process is attributed to two major factors. One is due the mechanical breakage of the incipient microspheres; and the other is the diffusion resulting from the concentration gradient. The mechanical breakage is difficult to avoid during fabrication of microspheres. On the other hand, the protein diffusion rate can be adjusted by changing the preparation and formulation parameters, such as the protein solubility, protein loading, inner water volume of W/O emulsion, emulsification method, addition of excipients, osmotic pressure, and polymer solidification rate. These parameters all affect the degree of protein loss directly or indirectly, and thus the encapsulation efficiency.

Many attempts have been made to add more protein to the inner aqueous phase. These attempts include choosing a high solubility protein, increasing the protein loading, and increasing the volume of protein solution. Such attempts, however, all resulted in a lower encapsulation efficiency, which in turn resulted in a large loss of these expensive proteins. The poor encapsulation efficiency becomes a limiting factor for scale-up production of microparticulate formulations. A study on encapsulation of two BSAs with different solubility showed that the higher solubility of BSA resulted in lower EE due to the higher tendency to diffuse into the external aqueous phase during microsphere formation [11]. The higher protein loading generates a higher concentration gradient between emulsion droplets and the continuous aqueous phase, resulting in the higher protein flux to the external water phase and lower EE [100]. In a study by Han et al., the EE decreased from 71% to 23% as the inner water volume was increased from 0.1 to 0.3 ml. This can be attributed to the increase in

the internal empty volume and the surface pore size [123]. Emulsification method is another factor affecting the EE. In the study on effect of homogenization method on FITC-BSA encapsulation, the microspheres generated by a mechanical homogenizer resulted in the lowest (79%) EE among the following three homogenization methods: mechanical homogenization, high pressure homogenization (W/O emulsion prepared by mechanical homogenizer was fed to a high pressure homogenizer), and ultrasonic homogenization [103].

Incorporation of surfactant usually reduces the protein EE. Addition of poloxamer 188 in BSA and lysozyme solutions [106], inclusion of vitamin E TPGS or PEG in HSA solution [13], and coencapsulation of poloxamer 188, polysorbate 20 and sorbitan monooleate 80 in insulin solution [147] all resulted in lower EEs of the corresponding proteins. Addition of a surfactant in the polymer phase also reduces EE. Phosphatidylcholine (PC), as a phospholipid which has similar amphiphilicity as surfactants, reduced the protein EE when it was introduced into the polymer solution. The existence of PC in polymer phase might have hindered the formation of a stable interfacial BSA-PLGA film [148] and resulted in a loss of albumin to the external aqueous phase [94]. On the other hand, addition of sucrose acetate isobutyrate (SAIB) in the polymer solution effectively increased the EE of lysozyme from 62% to 98%. This is attributed to the inhibition of protein diffusion created by the hydrophobic interaction between viscous SAIB and PLGA [109].

The osmotic pressure between the inner and outer water phases affects the EE. With addition of salt into the external phase, the EE increases due to the denser polymer film generated around the microspheres and to balance of the osmotic pressure generated in the inner aqueous phase, the higher EE can be obtained [14,105,116,123]. Addition of water-miscible solvent (e.g., acetone) or water-immiscible solvent in the external aqueous phase changes the solvent removal rate, thus the polymer solidification rate is altered. As a result, the diffusion rate of water and protein from the inner aqueous phase to the external aqueous phase has been altered and the EE changes accordingly [14,104,149].

In the membrane emulsification method, formation of microspheres was accomplished by forcing the primary W/O emulsion through polymer membrane, followed by collected in the external aqueous bath. Thus, the influence of process parameters on the EE is similar to the W/O/W method. The higher inner water volume and the higher protein loading produce microspheres with lower EE. Addition of 5% NaCl in the external aqueous phase generated microspheres with the EE of 92% at the protein loading of 2.3% [18].

3.4.2. S/O/W

In S/O/W methods, protein particles are first dispersed into the polymer solution and form the primary S/O emulsion. Protein particle size plays an important role in its EE. In Takada's research, encapsulation of finer rhGH powder showed higher EE and lower burst release in vivo [5]. Similar to W/O/W methods, the higher protein loading results in lower protein EE due to more loss of the protein into the continuous phase [22,107]. The problem associated with this step is the homogeneity of dispersed protein particles due to their fine size. Yamaguchi et al. solved the problem of homogenously dispersed insulin in the PLGA solution in a unique way. By adding water, ethanol or glycerol in the PLGA solution forms nano-scale miniemulsion droplets in the primary S/O emulsion, so that the insulin molecules can heterogeneously located in the PLGA microparticles, not on the surface. In addition, co-encapsulation of glycerol further suppresses the initial burst release due to annealing of the PLGA molecules to close the porous structure in the microspheres during the release process [137]. In the next step, S/O emulsion is added to a large volume of external aqueous phase. The volume ratio of external water to oil phase (W:O ratio) is critical to the protein encapsulation efficiency and protein activity. The EE and protein activity increases as the W:O ratio increases until the upper limit is reached. Beyond this critical ratio, there is no further improvement of EE and protein activity as the W:O ratio increases [24]. The emulsification power in generating secondary emulsion has a profound influence on the particle size and protein EE. The higher the emulsification intensity is, the smaller particles with the higher EE are obtained [107].

3.4.3. W/O/O method

W/O/O methods apply a coacervating agent to form primary emulsion as well as secondary emulsion. Based on the study made by Zhang et al., the volume of a coacervating agent (petroleum ether with surfactant) had negligible effect on the EE of BSA; while the type of coacervating agent (petroleum ethers with different boiling point) affects the amount of BSA encapsulated. The addition rate of a hardening agent (petroleum ether) influenced EE greatly. More protein was encapsulated with the higher addition rate. However, the microspheres generated under fast addition rate resulted in extremely high burst release (70%). The possible explanation is that the rapid solvent extraction induced the porous surface of the microparticles [108].

3.5. Protein activity

3.5.1. W/O/W method

Van der Weert and colleagues made an excellent summary on the protein instability issues during microparticle preparation, storage, and drug release in elsewhere [150]. The major loss of protein activity during the microencapsulation process is known to occur during the first emulsification step [4]. In this step, protein is exposed to huge water/organic interface, resulting in protein aggregation. The extent of protein aggregation is related to the solvent type. DCM induces more protein aggregation than ethyl acetate [25]. The method of emulsification determines the extent of protein aggregation during emulsification. The study on the effect of different emulsification methods on protein aggregation showed that sonication and vortex mixing generated slightly increased aggregation than mechanical homogenization [4]. To protect protein from denaturation during emulsification, a variety of excipients are added into the internal protein solution, such as carrier proteins (e.g., BSA and gelatin) [4,151], sugars (e.g., trehalose, maltose, lactose, and sorbitol) [25,51,151,152], and PEG [6,153]. These excipients either decrease the protein adsorption at the water/organic solvent interface by competitive adsorption from additives (PEG, carrier proteins), or shield the protein from the interface by forming a hydration layer over the surface of protein generated [25].

During protein release, the acidic microenvironment resulting from the PLGA hydrolysis contributes most to protein denaturation [48,154]. Proteins can be protected from the pH drop by adding counter alkaline excipients, such as zinc carbonate [48,155,156], magnesium hydroxide [93,156], or magnesium carbonate [30]. Recently, a new method of protecting proteins from acid-induced denaturation has been suggested. PEG-co-poly(L-histidine) (PEG-PHis) diblock copolymer was incorporated as a new excipient for protecting proteins during *in vitro* release process [125]. PEG-PHis diblock copolymer can form an ionic complex with negatively charged protein within a pH range of the acidic environment generated by PLGA hydrolysis. It acts as a temporary and reversible molecular shield that protects the protein from denaturation in acidic environment and improves the protein release kinetics [125].

3.5.2. S/O/W method

It is well-known that protein molecules in the solid state are more stable than those dissolved in aqueous solution. In some cases, however, the solid state protein still may not be able to preserve its conformational structure during the microparticle preparation steps. The activity of γ -chymotrypsin was lost when microspheres were prepared by an S/O/W method [23].

Solid proteins used in the S/O/W methods have been protected either by adding hydrophilic protectants or by forming protein complexes. Hydrophilic protanctants are usually co-lyophilized or co-spray-dried to form the protein-protectant microparticles. Examples of the protectants that have been used successfully to stabilize the protein include PEG [21,23-25,132,157-159], trehalose [22,25,133], mannitol [22,25], MBCD [135], ammonium acetate [5], and BSA [157]. A novel S/O/W method was developed using PEG as a protein micronization adjuvant. First, a protein-PEG mixture is lyophilized and then treated with DCM. After free PEG is dissolved in DCM, spherical, fine microparticles of the protein containing PEG are formed and ready to be dispersed into the polymer solution [132,159]. In another approach, some metals and polyelectrolytes are used to form complexes with proteins. Although protein complexes are formed to protect protein from the harsh processing condition during microparticle formation, the protein complex should be able to dissociate to release the protein. The examples of metal protein complexes are rhGH-Zn, rhNGF-Zn, and insulin-Zn complexes [48,50,160,161]. The polyelectrolyte protein complex can be amorphous precipitates, complex coacervates, gels, fibers or the soluble complexes depending on the property of the polyelectrolytes and the protein [162]. Jiang et al. prepared poly(methacrylic acid) (PMAA)insulin complex based on the electrostatic interactions. Incorporation of PMAA-insulin complex increased the EE from 39% to 68%. The in vitro release profile showed a 26% initial burst release followed by sustained release for 30 days [134].

3.5.3. W/0/0

Schwendeman's group developed a new method to improve the stability of tetanus toxoid (TT) in the microencapsulation process. In this method, TT was loaded in microcores followed by standard coacervation procedure. When gelatin was chosen as the core material, the recovery of >80% of antigenicity of TT was obtained during the release [163]. When TT-containing microspheres and phosphate-adsorbed TT were administrated, the levels of specific IgG antibodies were kept high up to 25 weeks [164].

3.5.4. Spray drying and spray freeze-drying

One of the major issues associated with spray drying is the maintenance of protein activity during the high temperature process. The study on protein stability during this process, however, is very limited. As the more practical microencapsulation process, spray

Table 8

Examples of clinically used microparticle formulations for protein/peptide delivery.

freeze-drying obtained a lot more attention. Many additives have
been studied to be coencapsulated with protein. These additives
include surfactant (ethyl stearate [45], sodium oleate [39], dioctyl-
sulfosuccinate [39], polysorbate 20 [41], pluronic® F68 and F127 [39],
and poloxamer 188 [41]), trehalose [43,44], PEG [45], BSA [43-45],
chitosan [45], hydroxypropyl- β -cyclodextrin (HP β CD) [41,42], and
cyclic D,L-lactide dimer [46]. Except lactide dimer, those additives are
usually added in aqueous phase of W/O emulsion. The microspheres
coencapsulated with additives usually show a decreased EE. The
release profile shows different trends depending on the type of the
additive. Due to the formation of insulin–HP _β CD complex, the initial
burst release of insulin and subsequent release are decreased [41,42].
The microspheres containing PEG 2000 release vaprotide in a more
continuous pattern [45]. Incorporation of lactide dimer increased the
encapsulation of rhEPO to almost 100%. However, there was no
further release of rhEPO after the initial burst release [46].

Spray freeze-drying is also widely used to micronize protein particles. In order to obtain a proper size of protein particles with minimal loss of activity, different excipients have been added into a protein solution ready to be freeze-dried. Examples include addition of zinc acetate to growth hormone and rhNGF solution to form complexes [47,48,50,160], trehalose to rhNGF and rhVEGF solution [50,51], and polysorbate 20 to rhIGF-I and rhVEGF solution [7,51]. ZnCO₃ is a common additive used to co-disperse with protein particles in polymer solutions [7,47,50,51,160].

4. Future

Currently, there are no standard experimental conditions or no standard formulations that can be used for all different types of proteins. Differences in the tertiary structure, molecular weight, and charge make each protein unique, so that a specific formulation is required for each protein. Optimization of the microsphere preparation process is inherently difficult, because adjustment of one parameter usually results in complicated, often unpredictable, effects on the final microsphere properties. For example, when two different proteins are encapsulated into the same PLGA microparticles under the same condition, huge differences in the EE of the two proteins were observed [106]. Adding a protein protective agent may decrease protein denaturation for improved bioactivity, but it may adversely affect the protein release profiles [22]. Such complicated interplay of

Drug	Encapsulating compound	Name (Product)	Company	Use	Clinical status	References
Somatropin (rDNA orgin) growth hormone	PLGA	Nutropin Depot®	Alkermese & Genentech	Growth hormone deficiency	Approved	www.gene.com
Luprolide acetate	PLA	Lupron Depot [®]	Abbott	Endometriosis	Approved	www.lupron.com
Goserelin acetate	PLA	Zoladex®	AstraZeneca	Prostate/breast cancer, endometriosis	Approved	www.astrazeneca-us.com
Octreotide acetate	PLGA	Sandostatin [®] LAR	Novartis	Acromegaly, neuroendocrine cancer	Approved	www.sandostatin.com
Triptorelin pamoate	PLGA	Trelstar [®] Depot, Trelstar [®] LA	Watson Pharma	Prostate cancer	Approved	www.trelstar.com
rgp 120/HIV-1MN monovalent octameric V3 peptide vaccine	PLGA	UBI microparticulate monovalent (HIV-1 MN) branched peptide vaccine	United Biomedical	HIV	Phase I	[177,178]
GM-CSF, IL-2, tuberculin	PLA	Immunoadjuvants for autologous fixed tumor		Glioblastoma multiforme	Phase I	[179]
		vaccine (AFTV)		Hepatocellular carcinoma	Phase II	[180,181]
hGH	Hydroxyethyl methacrylated dextran (dex-HEMA)	hGH dextran microsphere	Octoplus	Growth hormone deficiency	Clinical pharmacokinetic study	[182]

various formulation parameters makes development of clinically successful long-term protein delivery systems very difficult.

Protein formulations based on biodegradable microparticles require improvements in several properties. They include protein release profile, particle size, drug loading capacity, drug encapsulation efficiency, and protein bioactivity, as described above. The ultimate goal of making microparticles is to deliver protein drugs, and thus, obtaining desirable release profile is most important. Controlling the size and size distribution is important for making microparticle formulations with reproducible properties. The size and size distribution also plays a role in determining the administration route of the microparticles. The drug loading capacity needs to be controlled carefully. The higher drug loading capacity is not necessarily better or more desirable than the lower drug loading, as the degree of drug loading will affect the other properties. If, however, the same effects can be achieved with the higher loading capacity, it will lower the amount of the excipient polymer, leading to lower side effects to deal with. Another important factor to consider in drug loading is the protein EE. Since protein drugs are usually extremely expensive, achieving the EE as high as possible is critical.

For long-term drug delivery, which ranges from weeks to months, of protein drugs, one has to understand the stability of the loaded protein drug in the body, i.e., 37 °C in aqueous environment. Since most of the studies on protein formulations have used albumin as a model protein drug (if a model protein drug exists at all), the concern on bioactivity or protein stability has not been an issue. Other proteins commonly used have been lysozyme and insulin, which have bioactivities. But, the long-term stability in the in vivo condition has not been carefully examined. One factor that has been frequently overlooked is the ability of the microparticle preparation technique for scale-up production. For any formulation to be clinically useful, it needs to be produced in mass quantities [165]. The scale-up production in a reproducible manner is an important factor in deciding whether a microencapsulation technology can make it to the market [166]. All these factors need to be understood for successful development of long-term protein delivery systems using biodegradable polymers. Table 8 lists some examples of clinically used microparticle formulations for sustained release of macromolecules (i.e., molecular weight>1000 Da). Most of the drugs are long-acting analogues of the native proteins and peptides. It demonstrates how difficult it is to produce a sustained release formulation with a native protein. On the other hand, discovery of active derivatives will provide additional opportunities for microparticle-based protein/ peptide formulations. Thus, development of stable and long-acting protein drug derivatives and study on overcoming the existing problems of microencapsulation processes should be done in parallel.

In addition, the sterilization process should be carefully considered for developing successful microparticle formulations containing protein/peptide drugs. Dry heat sterilization (160-190 °C) or steam sterilization (120-135 °C, stream pressure) may not be useful, because proteins and peptides are very unstable under elevated temperature, and PLGA, a most commonly used polymer, has low glass-transition temperature. To solve the problem, Callewaert and coworkers developed a microparticle consisting of alginate core and propylene glycol alginate-HSA shell, which showed resistance against the steam sterilization [167]. Ethylene oxide (EO) gas sterilization possibly induces toxicity after application, because of residual EO molecules in microparticles [168]. An alternative method is radiation sterilization including γ -ray irradiation that has been frequently employed to produce sterilized microparticles. It is known that to accomplish successful sterilization, the irradiation dose of γ -ray should be more than 25 kGy [169]. In many cases, γ -ray affected surface morphology of PLGA microspheres [170], decrease in MW of PLGA by random chain scission [171], radical generation [172], aggregation of protein [173], and release modulation [173,174]. Dillow et al. demonstrated an interesting sterilization method, in which the supercritical carbon dioxide is useful not only to generate microparticles but also to inactivate bacteria [175]. However, it is not applicable for any method to produce microparticle formulations. Sterilization is an essential step, but no standard protocol has been established. Microparticle formation under aseptic condition can be another solution. For example, Toguchi suggested a sterility assurance protocol for Leuprorelin-containing microspheres [176], which utilizes sterile starting materials and conduct sterility test at every processing step. Sterility assurance should be firmly established as it is one of the important safety requirements.

Recent advances in microfabrication (or nanofabrication) approaches provide new avenues of formulating protein drugs in microparticles. The advantages of the microfabrication approaches are many-folds. They can produce particles with predefined sizes with homogeneous size distribution. The fabrication methods are such that the drug loading capacity and encapsulation efficiency can be much higher than the particles obtained by the conventional methods. While some properties of the protein formulation can be improved by new approaches, some properties may not be easy to improve. The inherent material properties will not change simply by using new microparticle fabrication method. Furthermore, the inherent protein properties will not change either. The issue of protein stability, i.e., bioactivity, will have to be considered independent of the microparticle preparation. The method of making protein drugs stable for extended period of time in the body condition has to be incorporated into the microparticle preparation method. All in all the formulation of protein drugs in microparticles for long-term drug delivery is not just an engineering problem. It requires close collaboration among scientists in different disciplines, including formulation scientists specializing in excipients, polymer chemists with expertise in polymer chemistry, engineers with the ability of microfabrication, and protein chemists who can develop protein particles stable for months inside the human body.

Acknowledgement

This work was supported in part by NIH through GM067044 and CA129287, and the Korea Research Foundation Grant (KRF-2008-357-D00072).

References

- S. Cohen, T. Yoshioka, M. Lucarelli, L.H. Hwang, R. Langer, Controlled delivery systems for proteins based on poly(lactic/glycolic acid) microspheres, Pharm. Res. 8 (6) (1991) 713–720.
- [2] O.L. Johnson, M.A. Tracy, in: E. Mathiowitz (Ed.), Encyclopedia of Controlled Drug Delivery, Vol. 2, John Wiley and Sons, New Jersey, 1999, pp. 816–832.
- [3] W.T. Leach, D.T. Simpson, T.N. Val, E.C. Anuta, Z. Yu, R.O. Williams III, K.P. Johnston, Uniform encapsulation of stable protein nanoparticles produced by spray freezing for the reduction of burst release, J. Pharm. Sci. 94 (1) (2005) 56–69.
- [4] M.K. Morlock, H., G. Winter, T. Kissel, Microencapsulation of rh-erythropoietin, using biodegradable poly(D,L-lactide-co-glycolide): protein stability and the effects of stabilizing excipients, Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 43 (1997) 29–36.
- [5] S. Takada, Y. Yamagata, M. Misaki, K. Taira, T. Kurokawa, Sustained release of human growth hormone from microcapsules prepared by a solvent evaporation technique, J. Control. Release 88 (2) (2003) 229–242.
- [6] J.M. Pean, F. Boury, M.C. Venier-Julienne, P. Menei, J.E. Proust, J.P. Benoit, Why does PEG 400 co-encapsulation improve NGF stability and release from PLGA biodegradable microspheres, Pharm. Res. 16 (8) (1999) 1294–1299.
- [7] X.M. Lam, E.T. Duenas, A.L. Daugherty, N. Levin, J.L. Cleland, Sustained release of recombinant human insulin-like growth factor-I for treatment of diabetes, J. Control. Release 67 (2–3) (2000) 281–292.
- [8] M. Frangione-Beebe, R.T. Rose, P.T. Kaumaya, S.P. Schwendeman, Microencapsulation of a synthetic peptide epitope for HTLV-1 in biodegradable poly(p,Llactide-co-glycolide) microspheres using a novel encapsulation technique, J. Microencapsul. 18 (5) (2001) 663–677.
- R.A. Jain, The manufacturing techniques of various drug loaded biodegradable poly (lactide-co-glycolide) (PLGA) devices, Biomaterials 21 (23) (2000) 2475–2490.
- [10] C. Berkland, K. Kim, D.W. Pack, Fabrication of PLG microspheres with precisely controlled and monodisperse size distributions, J. Control. Release 73 (1) (2001) 59–74.
- [11] E. Leo, B. Ruozi, G. Tosi, M.A. Vandelli, PLA-microparticles formulated by means a thermoreversible gel able to modify protein encapsulation and release without being co-encapsulated, Int. J. Pharm. 323 (1–2) (2006) 131–138.

- [12] Y.K. Katare, A.K. Panda, Influences of excipients on in vitro release and in vivo performance of tetanus toxoid loaded polymer particles, Eur. J. Pharm. Sci. 28 (3) (2006) 179–188.
- [13] G. Ruan, S.S. Feng, Q.T. Li, Effects of material hydrophobicity on physical properties of polymeric microspheres formed by double emulsion process, J. Control. Release 84 (3) (2002) 151–160.
- [14] G. Jiang, B.C. Thanoo, P.P. DeLuca, Effect of osmotic pressure in the solvent extraction phase on BSA release profile from PLGA microspheres, Pharm. Dev. Technol. 7 (4) (2002) 391–399.
- [15] G.P. Crotts, T, Preparation of porous and nonporous biodegradable polymeric hollow microshperes, J. Control. Release 35 (1995) 91–105.
- [16] H. Tamber, P. Johansen, H.P. Merkle, B. Gander, Formulation aspects of biodegradable polymeric microspheres for antigen delivery, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 57 (3) (2005) 357–376.
- [17] R. Liu, G.H. Ma, Y.H. Wan, Z.G. Su, Influence of process parameters on the size distribution of PLA microcapsules prepared by combining membrane emulsification technique and double emulsion–solvent evaporation method, Colloids Surf. B Biointerfaces 45 (3–4) (2005) 144–153.
- [18] R. Liu, S.S. Huang, Y.H. Wan, G.H. Ma, Z.G. Su, Preparation of insulin-loaded PLA/ PLGA microcapsules by a novel membrane emulsification method and its release in vitro, Colloids Surf. B Biointerfaces 51 (1) (2006) 30–38.
- [19] F. Ito, H. Fujimori, K. Makino, Incorporation of water-soluble drugs in PLGA microspheres, Colloids Surf. B Biointerfaces 54 (2) (2007) 173–178.
- [20] M. van de Weert, J. Hoechstetter, W.E. Hennink, D.J. Crommelin, The effect of a water/organic solvent interface on the structural stability of lysozyme, J. Control. Release 68 (3) (2000) 351–359.
- [21] I.J. Castellanos, G. Cruz, R. Crespo, K. Griebenow, Encapsulation-induced aggregation and loss in activity of gamma-chymotrypsin and their prevention, J. Control. Release 81 (3) (2002) 307–319.
- [22] J. Wang, K.M. Chua, C.H. Wang, Stabilization and encapsulation of human immunoglobulin G into biodegradable microspheres, J. Colloid. Interface Sci. 271 (1) (2004) 92–101.
- [23] I.J. Castellanos, R. Crespo, K. Griebenow, Poly(ethylene glycol) as stabilizer and emulsifying agent: a novel stabilization approach preventing aggregation and inactivation of proteins upon encapsulation in bioerodible polyester microspheres, J. Control. Release 88 (1) (2003) 135–145.
- [24] J.J. Castellanos, K. Griebenow, Improved alpha-chymotrypsin stability upon encapsulation in PLGA microspheres by solvent replacement, Pharm. Res. 20 (11) (2003) 1873–1880.
- [25] J.L. Cleland, A.J. Jones, Stable formulations of recombinant human growth hormone and interferon-gamma for microencapsulation in biodegradable microspheres, Pharm. Res. 13 (10) (1996) 1464–1475.
- [26] H.R. Costantino, L. Firouzabadian, K. Hogeland, C. Wu, C. Beganski, K.G. Carrasquillo, M. Cordova, K. Griebenow, S.E. Zale, M.A. Tracy, Protein spray-freeze drying. Effect of atomization conditions on particle size and stability, Pharm. Res. 17 (11) (2000) 1374–1383.
- [27] W. Bao, J. Zhou, J. Luo, D. Wu, PLGA microspheres with high drug loading and high encapsulation efficiency prepared by a novel solvent evaporation technique, J. Microencapsul. 23 (5) (2006) 471–479.
- [28] J.W. Kostanski, B.C. Thanoo, P.P. DeLuca, Preparation, characterization, and in vitro evaluation of 1- and 4-month controlled release orntide PLA and PLGA microspheres, Pharm. Dev. Technol. 5 (4) (2000) 585–596.
 [29] B.H. Woo, J.W. Kostanski, S. Gebrekidan, B.A. Dani, B.C. Thanoo, P.P. DeLuca,
- [29] B.H. Woo, J.W. Kostanski, S. Gebrekidan, B.A. Dani, B.C. Thanoo, P.P. DeLuca, Preparation, characterization and in vivo evaluation of 120-day poly(D, L-lactide) leuprolide microspheres, J. Control. Release 75 (3) (2001) 307–315.
- [30] M. Sandor, A. Riechel, I. Kaplan, E. Mathiowitz, Effect of lecithin and MgCO3 as additives on the enzymatic activity of carbonic anhydrase encapsulated in poly(lactide-coglycolide) (PLGA) microspheres, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1570 (1) (2002) 63–74.
- [31] J.L. Cleland, in: L.M. Sanders, R.W. Hendren (Eds.), Protein Delivery: Physical Systems, Vol. 10, Plenum Press, New York, 1997, pp. 1–43.
- [32] C. Thomasin, N.T. Ho, H.P. Merkle, B. Gander, Drug microencapsulation by PLA/ PLGA coacervation in the light of thermodynamics. 1. Overview and theoretical considerations, J. Pharm. Sci. 87 (3) (1998) 259–268.
 [33] D.M. Ciombor, A. Jaklenec, A.Z. Liu, C. Thanos, N. Rahman, P. Weston, R. Aaron, E.
- [33] D.M. Ciombor, A. Jaklenec, A.Z. Liu, C. Thanos, N. Rahman, P. Weston, R. Aaron, E. Mathiowitz, Encapsulation of BSA using a modified W/O/O emulsion solvent removal method, J. Microencapsul. 23 (2) (2006) 183–194.
- [34] C. Thomasin, H.P. Merkle, B. Gander, Drug microencapsulation by PLA/PLGA coacervation in the light of thermodynamics. 2. Parameters determining microsphere formation, J. Pharm. Sci. 87 (3) (1998) 269–275.
- [35] M.J. Blanco-Prieto, M.A. Campanero, K. Besseghir, F. Heimgatner, B. Gander, Importance of single or blended polymer types for controlled in vitro release and plasma levels of a somatostatin analogue entrapped in PLA/PLGA microspheres, J. Control. Release 96 (3) (2004) 437–448.
- [36] K.G. Carrasquillo, A.M. Stanley, J.C. Aponte-Carro, P. De Jesus, H.R. Costantino, C.J. Bosques, K. Griebenow, Non-aqueous encapsulation of excipient-stabilized spray-freeze dried BSA into poly(lactide-co-glycolide) microspheres results in release of native protein, J. Control. Release 76 (3) (2001) 199–208.
 [37] M. Tobio, J. Nolley, Y. Guo, J. McIver, M.J. Alonso, A novel system based on a
- [37] M. Tobio, J. Nolley, Y. Guo, J. McIver, M.J. Alonso, A novel system based on a poloxamer/PLGA blend as a tetanus toxoid delivery vehicle, Pharm. Res. 16 (5) (1999) 682–688.
- [38] W.T. Leach, D.T. Simpson, T.N. Val, Z. Yu, K.T. Lim, E.J. Park, R.O. Williams III, K.P. Johnston, Encapsulation of protein nanoparticles into uniform-sized microspheres formed in a spinning oil film, AAPS Pharm. Sci. Tech. 6 (4) (2005) E605–E617.
- [39] P. Giunchedi, B. Conti, I. Genta, U. Conte, G. Puglisi, Emulsion spray-drying for the preparation of albumin-loaded PLGA microspheres, Drug Dev. Ind. Pharm. 27 (7) (2001) 745–750.

- [40] S. Freitas, H.P. Merkle, B. Gander, Ultrasonic atomisation into reduced pressure atmosphere–envisaging aseptic spray-drying for microencapsulation, J. Control. Release 95 (2) (2004) 185–195.
- [41] F. Quaglia, G. De Rosa, E. Granata, F. Ungaro, E. Fattal, M. Immacolata La Rotonda, Feeding liquid, non-ionic surfactant and cyclodextrin affect the properties of insulin-loaded poly(lactide-co-glycolide) microspheres prepared by spraydrying, J. Control. Release 86 (2–3) (2003) 267–278.
- [42] G. De Rosa, D. Larobina, M. Immacolata La Rotonda, P. Musto, F. Quaglia, F. Ungaro, How cyclodextrin incorporation affects the properties of protein-loaded PLGA-based microspheres: the case of insulin/hydroxypropyl-beta-cyclodextrin system, J. Control. Release 102 (1) (2005) 71–83.
- [43] P. Johansen, Y. Men, R. Audran, G. Corradin, H.P. Merkle, B. Gander, Improving stability and release kinetics of microencapsulated tetanus toxoid by coencapsulation of additives, Pharm. Res. 15 (7) (1998) 1103–1110.
- [44] P. Johansen, H. Tamber, H.P. Merkle, B. Gander, Diphtheria and tetanus toxoid microencapsulation into conventional and end-group alkylated PLA/PLGAs, Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 47 (3) (1999) 193–201.
- [45] M.J. Blanco-Prieto, K. Besseghir, O. Zerbe, D. Andris, P. Orsolini, F. Heimgartner, H.P. Merkle, B. Gander, In vitro and in vivo evaluation of a somatostatin analogue released from PLGA microspheres, J. Control. Release 67 (1) (2000) 19–28.
 [46] B. Bittner, M. Morlock, H. Koll, G. Winter, T. Kissel, Recombinant human
- [46] B. Bittner, M. Morlock, H. Koll, G. Winter, T. Kissel, Recombinant human erythropoietin (rhEPO) loaded poly(lactide-co-glycolide) microspheres: influence of the encapsulation technique and polymer purity on microsphere characteristics, Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 45 (3) (1998) 295–305.
- [47] H.R. Costantino, O.L. Johnson, S.E. Zale, Relationship between encapsulated drug particle size and initial release of recombinant human growth hormone from biodegradable microspheres, J. Pharm. Sci. 93 (10) (2004) 2624–2634.
- [48] O.L. Johnson, W. Jaworowicz, J.L. Cleland, L. Bailey, M. Charnis, E. Duenas, C. Wu, D. Shepard, S. Magil, T. Last, A.J. Jones, S.D. Putney, The stabilization and encapsulation of human growth hormone into biodegradable microspheres, Pharm. Res. 14 (6) (1997) 730–735.
- [49] A.J. Jones, S. Putney, O.L. Johnson, J.L. Cleland, Recombinant human growth hormone poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) microsphere formulation development, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 28 (1) (1997) 71–84.
- [50] X.M. Lam, E.T. Duenas, J.L. Cleland, Encapsulation and stabilization of nerve growth factor into poly(lactic-co-glycolic) acid microspheres, J. Pharm. Sci. 90 (9) (2001) 1356–1365.
- [51] J.L. Cleland, E.T. Duenas, A. Park, A. Daugherty, J. Kahn, J. Kowalski, A. Cuthbertson, Development of poly-(D,L-lactide-coglycolide) microsphere formulations containing recombinant human vascular endothelial growth factor to promote local angiogenesis, J. Control. Release 72 (1–3) (2001) 13–24.
- [52] [52] W. Gombotz, M. Healy, L. Brown, Very low temperature casting of controlled release microspheres, U.S. Patent 5,019,400, May 28, 1991.
- [53] C. Berkland, E. Pollauf, N. Varde, D.W. Pack, K.K. Kim, Monodisperse liquid-filled biodegradable microcapsules, Pharm. Res. 24 (5) (2007) 1007–1013.
 [54] C. Berkland, M. King, A. Cox, K. Kim, D.W. Pack, Precise control of PLG
- [54] C. Berkland, M. King, A. Cox, K. Kim, D.W. Pack, Precise control of PLG microsphere size provides enhanced control of drug release rate, J. Control. Release 82 (1) (2002) 137–147.
- [55] C. Berkland, D.W. Pack, K.K. Kim, Controlling surface nano-structure using flowlimited field-injection electrostatic spraying (FFESS) of poly(D,L-lactide-coglycolide), Biomaterials 25 (25) (2004) 5649–5658.
- [56] S. Freitas, B. Rudolf, H.P. Merkle, B. Gander, Flow-through ultrasonic emulsification combined with static micromixing for aseptic production of microspheres by solvent extraction, Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 61 (3) (2005) 181–187.
- [57] S. Freitas, G. Hielscher, H.P. Merkle, B. Gander, Continuous contact- and contamination-free ultrasonic emulsification—a useful tool for pharmaceutical development and production, Ultrason. Sonochem. 13 (1) (2006) 76–85.
- [58] S. Freitas, H.P. Merkle, B. Gander, Microencapsulation by solvent extraction/ evaporation: reviewing the state of the art of microsphere preparation process technology, J. Control. Release 102 (2) (2005) 313–332.
- [59] S. Freitas, A. Walz, H.P. Merkle, B. Gander, Solvent extraction employing a static micromixer: a simple, robust and versatile technology for the microencapsulation of proteins, J. Microencapsul. 20 (1) (2003) 67–85.
- [60] Y. Yeo, O.A. Basaran, K. Park, A new process for making reservoir-type microcapsules using ink-jet technology and interfacial phase separation, J. Control. Release 93 (2) (2003) 161–173.
- [61] Y. Yeo, A.U. Chen, O.A. Basaran, K. Park, Solvent exchange method: a novel microencapsulation technique using dual microdispensers, Pharm. Res. 21 (8) (2004) 1419–1427.
- [62] Y. Yeo, K. Park, A new microencapsulation method using an ultrasonic atomizer based on interfacial solvent exchange, J. Control. Release 100 (3) (2004) 379–388.
- [63] B. Felder Ch, M.J. Blanco-Prieto, J. Heizmann, H.P. Merkle, B. Gander, Ultrasonic atomization and subsequent polymer desolvation for peptide and protein microencapsulation into biodegradable polyesters, J. Microencapsul. 20 (5) (2003) 553–567.
- [64] J.H. Park, M. Ye, Y. Yeo, W.K. Lee, C. Paul, K. Park, Reservoir-type microcapsules prepared by the solvent exchange method: effect of formulation parameters on microencapsulation of lysozyme, Mol. Pharm. 3 (2) (2006) 135–143.
- [65] Y. Yeo, K. Park, Characterization of reservoir-type microcapsules made by the solvent exchange method, AAPS Pharm. Sci. Tech. 5 (4) (2004) e52.
- [66] J.B. Fenn, M. Mann, C.K. Meng, S.F. Wong, C.M. Whitehouse, Electrospray ionization for mass spectrometry of large biomolecules, Science 246 (4926) (1989) 64–71.
- [67] I.G. Loscertales, A. Barrero, I. Guerrero, R. Cortijo, M. Marquez, A.M. Ganan-Calvo, Micro/nano encapsulation via electrified coaxial liquid jets, Science 295 (5560) (2002) 1695–1698.

- [68] Y. Xu, M.A. Hanna, Electrospray encapsulation of water-soluble protein with polylactide. Effects of formulations on morphology, encapsulation efficiency and release profile of particles, Int. J. Pharm. 320 (1–2) (2006) 30–36.
- [69] Y. Xu, M. Skotak, M. Hanna, Electrospray encapsulation of water-soluble protein with polylactide. I. Effects of formulations and process on morphology and particle size, J. Microencapsul. 23 (1) (2006) 69–78.
- [70] A. Gomez, D. Bingham, L. de Juan, K. Tang, Production of protein nanoparticles by electrospray drying, J. Aerosol Sci. 29 (5-6) (1998) 561–574.
- [71] S. Kuo, G. Niu, S. Chang, C. Kuo, M. Bair, A one-step method for fabricating chitosan microspheres, J. Appl. Pol. Sci. 94 (5) (2004) 2150–2157.
- [72] J. Xie, C.H. Wang, Encapsulation of proteins in biodegradable polymeric microparticles using electrospray in the Taylor cone-jet mode, Biotechnol. Bioeng. 97 (5) (2007) 1278–1290.
- [73] Y.C. Tan, K. Hettiarachchi, M. Siu, Y.R. Pan, A.P. Lee, Controlled microfluidic encapsulation of cells, proteins, and microbeads in lipid vesicles, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 128 (17) (2006) 5656–5658.
- [74] S. Okushima, T. Nisisako, T. Torii, T. Higuchi, Controlled production of monodisperse double emulsions by two-step droplet breakup in microfluidic devices, Langmuir 20 (23) (2004) 9905–9908.
- [75] M. Joanicot, A. Ajdari, Applied physics. Droplet control for microfluidics, Science 309 (5736) (2005) 887–888.
- [76] T. Nisisako, S. Shingo Okushima, T. Torii, Controlled formulation of monodisperse double emulsions in a multiple-phase microfluidic system, Soft Matter. 1 (1) (2005) 23–27.
- [77] S. Takeuchi, P. Garstecki, D. Weibel, G. Whitesides, An axisymmetric flow-focusing microfluidic device, Adv. Mater. 17 (8) (2005) 1067–1072.
 [78] Z. Nie, S. Xu, M. Seo, P.C. Lewis, E. Kumacheva, Polymer particles with various
- [78] Z. Nie, S. Xu, M. Seo, P.C. Lewis, E. Kumacheva, Polymer particles with various shapes and morphologies produced in continuous microfluidic reactors, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 127 (22) (2005) 8058–8063.
- [79] E. Lorenceau, A.S. Utada, D.R. Link, G. Cristobal, M. Joanicot, D.A. Weitz, Generation of polymerosomes from double-emulsions, Langmuir 21 (20) (2005) 9183–9186.
- [80] A.S. Utada, E. Lorenceau, D.R. Link, P.D. Kaplan, H.A. Stone, D.A. Weitz, Monodisperse double emulsions generated from a microcapillary device, Science 308 (5721) (2005) 537–541.
- [81] H. Zhang, E. Tumarkin, R. Peerani, Z. Nie, R.M. Sullan, G.C. Walker, E. Kumacheva, Microfluidic production of biopolymer microcapsules with controlled morphology, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 128 (37) (2006) 12205–12210.
- [82] H.K. Kim, H.J. Chung, T.G. Park, Biodegradable polymeric microspheres with "open/closed" pores for sustained release of human growth hormone, J. Control. Release 112 (2) (2006) 167–174.
- [83] J.P. Rolland, B.W. Maynor, LE. Euliss, A.E. Exner, G.M. Denison, J.M. DeSimone, Direct fabrication and harvesting of monodisperse, shape-specific nanobiomaterials, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 127 (2005) 10096–10100.
- [84] S.E.A. Gratton, P.D. Pohlhaus, J. Lee, J. Guo, M.J. Cho, J.M. DeSimone, Nanofabricated particles for engineered drug therapies: a preliminary biodistribution study of PRINT[™] nanoparticles, J. Control. Release 121 (2007) 10–18.
- [85] J.Y. Kelly, J.M. DeSimone, Shape-specific, monodisperse nano-molding of protein particles, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 130 (2008) 5438–5439.
- [86] R.A. Petros, P.A. Ropp, J.M. DeSimone, Reductively labile PRINT particles for the delivery of doxorubicin to HeLa cells, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 130 (2008) 5008–5009.
- [87] J. Guan, A. Chakrapani, D.J. Hansford, Polymer microparticles fabricated by soft lithography, Chem. Mater. 17 (2005) 6227–6229.
- [88] L.C. Glangchai, M. Caldorera-Moore, L. Shi, K. Roy, Nanoimprint lithography based fabrication of shape-specific, enzymatically-triggered smart nanoparticles, J. Control. Release 125 (2008) 263–272.
- [89] G. Acharya, C.S. Shin, M. McDermott, H. Mishra, H. Park, I.C. Kwon, K. Park, The hydrogel template method for fabrication of homogeneous nano/microparticles, J. Control. Release 141 (2010) 314–319.
- [90] J. Kang, S.P. Schwendeman, Pore closing and opening in biodegradable polymers and their effect on the controlled release of proteins, Mol. Pharm. 4 (1) (2007) 104–118.
- [91] C. Bouissou, J.J. Rouse, R. Price, C.F. van der Walle, The influence of surfactant on PLGA microsphere glass transition and water sorption: remodeling the surface morphology to attenuate the burst release, Pharm. Res. 23 (6) (2006) 1295–1305.
- [92] A. Brunner, K. Mader, A. Gopferich, pH and osmotic pressure inside biodegradable microspheres during erosion, Pharm. Res. 16 (6) (1999) 847–853.
- [93] K.S. Jaganathan, Y.U. Rao, P. Singh, D. Prabakaran, S. Gupta, A. Jain, S.P. Vyas, Development of a single dose tetanus toxoid formulation based on polymeric microspheres: a comparative study of poly(D,L-lactic-co-glycolic acid) versus chitosan microspheres, Int. J. Pharm. 294 (1–2) (2005) 23–32.
- [94] T.W. Chung, Y.L. Tsai, J.H. Hsieh, W.J. Tsai, Different ratios of lactide and glycolide in PLGA affect the surface property and protein delivery characteristics of the PLGA microspheres with hydrophobic additives, J. Microencapsul. 23 (1) (2006) 15–27.
- [95] J.M. Pean, M.C. Venier-Julienne, F. Boury, P. Menei, B. Denizot, J.P. Benoit, NGF release from poly(D,L-lactide-co-glycolide) microspheres. Effect of some formulation parameters on encapsulated NGF stability, J. Control. Release 56 (1–3) (1998) 175–187.
- [96] J.L. Chen, C.H. Chiang, M.K. Yeh, The mechanism of PLA microparticle formation by water-in-oil-in-water solvent evaporation method, J. Microencapsul. 19 (3) (2002) 333–346.
- [97] J.B. Herrmann, R, The effect of particle microstructure on the somatostatin release from poly(lactide) microspheres prepared by a W/O/W solvent evaporation method, J. Control. Release 36 (1–2) (1995) 63–71.

- [98] G. Wei, G.J. Pettway, L.K. McCauley, P.X. Ma, The release profiles and bioactivity of parathyroid hormone from poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) microspheres, Biomaterials 25 (2) (2004) 345–352.
- [99] Y.Y. Yang, H.H. Chia, T.S. Chung, Effect of preparation temperature on the characteristics and release profiles of PLGA microspheres containing protein fabricated by double-emulsion solvent extraction/evaporation method, J. Control. Release 69 (1) (2000) 81–96.
- J. Control. Release 69 (1) (2000) 81–96.
 [100] Y.Y. Yang, T.S. Chung, N.P. Ng, Morphology, drug distribution, and in vitro release profiles of biodegradable polymeric microspheres containing protein fabricated by double-emulsion solvent extraction/evaporation method, Biomaterials 22 (3) (2001) 231–241.
- [101] H.R. Costantino, L. Firouzabadian, C. Wu, K.G. Carrasquillo, K. Griebenow, S.E. Zale, M.A. Tracy, Protein spray freeze drying. 2. Effect of formulation variables on particle size and stability, J. Pharm. Sci. 91 (2) (2002) 388–395.
- [102] M. Igartua, R.M. Hernandez, A. Esquisabel, A.R. Gascon, M.B. Calvo, J.L. Pedraz, Influence of formulation variables on the in-vitro release of albumin from biodegradable microparticulate systems, J. Microencapsul. 14 (3) (1997) 349–356.
- [103] C. Wischke, H.H. Borchert, Influence of the primary emulsification procedure on the characteristics of small protein-loaded PLGA microparticles for antigen delivery, J. Microencapsul. 23 (4) (2006) 435–448.
- delivery, J. Microencapsul. 23 (4) (2006) 435–448.
 [104] K.J. Zhu, H.L. Jiang, X.Y. Du, J. Wang, W.X. Xu, S.F. Liu, Preparation and characterization of hCG-loaded polylactide or poly(lactide-co-glycolide) microspheres using a modified water-in-oil-in-water (w/o/w) emulsion solvent evaporation technique, J. Microencapsul. 18 (2) (2001) 247–260.
- [105] J.T. He, H.B. Su, G.P. Li, X.M. Tao, W. Mo, H.Y. Song, Stabilization and encapsulation of a staphylokinase variant (K35R) into poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) microspheres, Int. J. Pharm. 309 (1–2) (2006) 101–108.
- [106] D. Blanco, M.J. Alonso, Protein encapsulation and release from poly(lactide-coglycolide) microspheres: effect of the protein and polymer properties and of the co-encapsulation of surfactants, Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 45 (3) (1998) 285–294.
- [107] I.J. Castellanos, K.G. Carrasquillo, J.D. Lopez, M. Alvarez, K. Griebenow, Encapsulation of bovine serum albumin in poly(lactide-co-glycolide) microspheres by the solidin-oil-in-water technique, J. Pharm. Pharmacol. 53 (2) (2001) 167–178.
- [108] J.X. Zhang, K.J. Zhu, D. Chen, Preparation of bovine serum albumin loaded poly (D, L-lactic-co-glycolic acid) microspheres by a modified phase separation technique, J. Microencapsul. 22 (2) (2005) 117–126.
- [109] E.S. Lee, M.J. Kwon, H. Lee, K. Na, J.J. Kim, In vitro study of lysozyme in poly (lactide-co-glycolide) microspheres with sucrose acetate isobutyrate, Eur. J. Pharm. Sci. 29 (5) (2006) 435–441.
- [110] E.S. Lee, K.H. Park, I.S. Park, K. Na, Glycol chitosan as a stabilizer for protein encapsulated into poly(lactide-co-glycolide) microparticle, Int. J. Pharm. 338 (1– 2) (2007) 310–316.
- [111] C. Perez, P. De Jesus, K. Griebenow, Preservation of lysozyme structure and function upon encapsulation and release from poly(lactic-co-glycolic) acid microspheres prepared by the water-in-oil-in-water method, Int. J. Pharm. 248 (1–2) (2002) 193–206.
- [112] J. Lee, K.Y. Lee, Injectable microsphere/hydrogel combination systems for localized protein delivery, Macromol. Biosci. 9 (7) (2009) 671–676.
- [113] J. Lee, C.Y. Tan, S.K. Lee, Y.H. Kim, K.Y. Lee, Controlled delivery of heat shock protein using an injectable microsphere/hydrogel combination system for the treatment of myocardial infarction, J. Control. Release 137 (3–4) (2009) 196–202.
 [114] C. Srinivasan, Y.K. Katare, T. Muthukumaran, A.K. Panda, Effect of additives on
- [114] C. Srinivasan, Y.K. Katare, T. Muthukumaran, A.K. Panda, Effect of additives on encapsulation efficiency, stability and bioactivity of entrapped lysozyme from biodegradable polymer particles, J. Microencapsul. 22 (2) (2005) 127–138.
- [115] E. Garbayo, E. Ansorena, J.L. Lanciego, M.S. Aymerich, M.J. Blanco-Prieto, Sustained release of bioactive glycosylated glial cell-line derived neurotrophic factor from biodegradable polymeric microspheres, Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 69 (3) (2008) 844–851.
- [116] K.F. Pistel, T. Kissel, Effects of salt addition on the microencapsulation of proteins using W/O/W double emulsion technique, J. Microencapsul. 17 (4) (2000) 467–483.
- [117] J.P. Bertram, M.F. Rauch, K. Chang, E.B. Lavik, Using polymer chemistry to modulate the delivery of neurotrophic factors from degradable microspheres: delivery of BDNF, Pharm. Res. 27 (1) (2010) 82–91.
- [118] M.L. Ho, Y.C. Fu, G.J. Wang, H.T. Chen, J.K. Chang, T.H. Tsai, C.K. Wang, Controlled release carrier of BSA made by W/O/W emulsion method containing PLGA and hydroxyapatite, J. Control. Release 128 (2) (2008) 142–148.
- [119] W. Park, K. Na, Dermatan sulfate as a stabilizer for protein stability in poly (lactide-co-glycolide), Depot. Biotech. Bioproc. Eng. 14 (5) (2009) 668–674.
- [120] W. Park, K. Na, Polyelectrolyte complex of chondroitin sulfate and peptide with lower pl value in poly(lactide-co-glycolide) microsphere for stability and controlled release, Colloids Surf. B Biointerfaces 72 (2) (2009) 193–200.
- [121] X.Q. Dong, J. Xu, W.C. Wang, H. Luo, X.F. Liang, L. Zhang, H.J. Wang, P.H. Wang, J. Chang, Repair effect of diabetic ulcers with recombinant human epidermal growth factor loaded by sustained-release microspheres, Sci. China Series C-Life Sci. 51 (11) (2008) 1039–1044.
- [122] Y.M. Zhang, F. Yang, Y.Q. Yang, F.L. Song, A.L. Xu, Recombinant interferon-alpha2b poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) microspheres: pharmacokinetics-pharmacodynamics study in rhesus monkeys following intramuscular administration, Acta Pharmacol. Sinica 29 (11) (2008) 1370–1375.
- [123] K. Han, K.D. Lee, Z.G. Gao, J.S. Park, Preparation and evaluation of poly(L-lactic acid) microspheres containing rhEGF for chronic gastric ulcer healing, J. Control. Release 75 (3) (2001) 259–269.
- [124] A.H. Ghassemi, M.J. van Steenbergen, H. Talsma, C.F. van Nostrum, W. Jiskoot, D.J. Crommelin, W.E. Hennink, Preparation and characterization of protein loaded microspheres based on a hydroxylated aliphatic polyester,

poly(lactic-co-hydroxymethyl glycolic acid), J. Control. Release 138 (1) (2009) 57-63.

- [125] J.H. Kim, A. Taluja, K. Knutson, Y. Han Bae, Stability of bovine serum albumin complexed with PEG-poly(L-histidine) diblock copolymer in PLGA microspheres, J. Control. Release 109 (1–3) (2005) 86–100.
- [126] D.J. Kirby, I. Rosenkrands, E.M. Agger, P. Andersen, A.G.A. Coombes, Y. Perrie, PLGA microspheres for the delivery of a novel subunit TB vaccine, J. Drug Target. 16 (4) (2008) 282–293.
- [127] M.B. Wang, Q.L. Feng, X.F. Niu, R.W. Tan, Z.D. She, A spheres-in-sphere structure for improving protein-loading poly (lactide-co-glycolide) microspheres, Polym. Degrad. Stab. 95 (1) (2010) 6–13.
- [128] H.J. Yang, I.S. Park, K. Na, Biocompatible microspheres based on acetylated polysaccharide prepared from water-in-oil-in-water (W-1/O/W-2) doubleemulsion method for delivery of type II diabetic drug (exenatide), Colloids Surf. A Physicochem. Eng. Aspects 340 (1–3) (2009) 115–120.
- [129] X.H. Zhu, C.H. Wang, Y.W. Tong, In vitro characterization of hepatocyte growth factor release from PHBV/PLGA microsphere scaffold, J. Biomed. Mater. Res. A 89A (2) (2009) 411–423.
- [130] M. Igartua, R.M. Hernandez, J.E. Rosas, M.E. Patarroyo, J.L. Pedraz, gamma-Irradiation effects on biopharmaceutical properties of PLGA microspheres loaded with SPf66 synthetic vaccine, Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 69 (2) (2008) 519–526.
- [131] L.E. Kokai, H.P. Tan, S. Jhunjhunwala, S.R. Little, J.W. Frank, K.G. Marra, Protein bioactivity and polymer orientation is affected by stabilizer incorporation for double-walled microspheres, J. Control. Release 141 (2) (2010) 168–176.
- [132] T. Morita, Y. Sakamura, Y. Horikiri, T. Suzuki, H. Yoshino, Protein encapsulation into biodegradable microspheres by a novel S/O/W emulsion method using poly (ethylene glycol) as a protein micronization adjuvant, J. Control. Release 69 (3) (2000) 435–444.
- [133] I.J. Castellanos, W.O. Cuadrado, K. Griebenow, Prevention of structural perturbations and aggregation upon encapsulation of bovine serum albumin into poly(lactide-co-glycolide) micropheres using the solid-in-oil-in water technique, J. Pharm. Pharmacol. 53 (8) (2001) 1099–1107.
 [134] H.L. Jiang, J.F. Jin, Y.Q. Hu, KJ. Zhu, Improvement of protein loading and modulation
- [134] H.L. Jiang, J.F. Jin, Y.Q. Hu, K.J. Zhu, Improvement of protein loading and modulation of protein release from poly(lactide-co-glycolide) microspheres by complexation of proteins with polyanions, J. Microencapsul. 21 (6) (2004) 615–624.
- [135] I.J. Castellanos, G. Flores, K. Griebenow, Effect of cyclodextrins on alphachymotrypsin stability and loading in PLGA microspheres upon S/O/W encapsulation, J. Pharm. Sci. 95 (4) (2006) 849–858.
- [136] W.E. Yuan, F. Wu, M.Y. Guo, T. Jin, Development of protein delivery microsphere system by a novel S/O/P/W multi-emulsion, Eur. J. Pharm. Sci. 36 (2–3) (2009) 212–218.
- [137] Y. Yamaguchi, M. Takenaga, A. Kitagawa, Y. Ogawa, Y. Mizushima, R. Igarashi, Insulin-loaded biodegradable PLGA microcapsules: initial burst release controlled by hydrophilic additives, J. Control. Release 81 (3) (2002) 235–249.
 [138] A. Schoubben, P. Blasi, S. Giovagnoli, L. Perioli, C. Rossi, M. Ricci, Novel composite
- [138] A. Schoubben, P. Blasi, S. Giovagnoli, L. Perioli, C. Rossi, M. Ricci, Novel composite microparticles for protein stabilization and delivery, Eur. J. Pharm. Sci. 36 (2–3) (2009) 226–234.
- [139] J. Emami, H. Hamishehkar, A.R. Najafabadi, K. Gilani, M. Minaiyan, H. Mahdavi, A. Nokhodchi, A novel approach to prepare insulin-loaded poly (lactic-co-glycolic acid) microcapsules and the protein stability study, J. Pharm. Sci. 98 (5) (2009) 1712–1731.
- [140] R.A. Jain, C.T. Rhodes, A.M. Railkar, A.W. Malick, N.H. Shah, Comparison of various injectable protein-loaded biodegradable poly(lactide-co-glycolide) (PLGA) devices: in-situ-formed implant versus in-situ-formed microspheres versus isolated microspheres, Pharm. Dev. Technol. 5 (2) (2000) 201–207.
- [141] Y.D. Han, H.Y. Tian, P. He, X.S. Chen, X.B. Jing, Insulin nanoparticle preparation and encapsulation into poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) microspheres by using an anhydrous system, Int. J. Pharm. 378 (1–2) (2009) 159–166.
 [142] J.H. Wu, D.W. Ding, G.Y. Ren, X.Y. Xu, X.J. Yin, Y.Q. Hu, Sustained delivery of
- [142] J.H. Wu, D.W. Ding, G.Y. Ren, X.Y. Xu, X.J. Yin, Y.Q. Hu, Sustained delivery of endostatin improves the efficacy of therapy in Lewis lung cancer model, J. Control. Release 134 (2) (2009) 91–97.
- [143] J.H. Wu, L. Wu, X.Q. Xu, X.Y. Xu, X.J. Yin, Y.J. Chen, Y.Q. Hu, Microspheres made by W/O/O emulsion method with reduced initial burst for long-term delivery of endostar, a novel recombinant human endostatin, J. Pharm. Sci. 98 (6) (2009) 2051–2058.
- [144] H. Hamishehkar, J. Emami, A.R. Najafabadi, K. Gilani, M. Minaiyan, H. Mahdavi, A. Nokhodchi, The effect of formulation variables on the characteristics of insulinloaded poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) microspheres prepared by a single phase oil in oil solvent evaporation method, Colloids Surf. B Biointerfaces 74 (1) (2009) 340–349.
- [145] D.F. Yin, Y. Lu, H. Zhang, G.Q. Zhang, H. Zou, D.X. Sun, Y.Q. Zhong, Preparation of glucagon-like peptide-1 loaded PLCA microspheres: characterizations, release studies and bioactivities in vitro/in vivo, Chem. Pharm. Bull. 56 (2) (2008) 156–161.
- [146] F. Jordan, A. Naylor, C.A. Kelly, S.M. Howdle, A. Lewis, L. Illum, Sustained release hGH microsphere formulation produced by a novel supercritical fluid technology: in vivo studies, J. Control. Release 141 (2) (2010) 153–160.
- [147] G.D. Rosa, R. Iommelli, M.I. La Rotonda, A. Miro, F. Quaglia, Influence of the coencapsulation of different non-ionic surfactants on the properties of PLGA insulin-loaded microspheres, J. Control. Release 69 (2) (2000) 283–295.
- [148] N. Nihant, C. Schugens, C. Grandfils, R. Jerome, P. Teyssie, Polylactide microparticles prepared by double emulsion/evaporation technique. I. Effect of primary emulsion stability, Pharm. Res. 11 (10) (1994) 1479–1484.
- [149] M. Cho, H. Sah, Formulation and process parameters affecting protein encapsulation into PLGA microspheres during ethyl acetate-based microencapsulation process, J. Microencapsul. 22 (1) (2005) 1–12.

- [150] M. van de Weert, W.E. Hennink, W. Jiskoot, Protein instability in poly(lactic-coglycolic acid) microparticles, Pharm. Res. 17 (10) (2000) 1159–1167.
- [151] L. Meinel, O.É. Illi, J. Zapf, M. Malfanti, H. Peter Merkle, B. Gander, Stabilizing insulinlike growth factor-I in poly(p,L-lactide-co-glycolide) microspheres, J. Control. Release 70 (1–2) (2001) 193–202.
- [152] C. Perez, K. Griebenow, Improved activity and stability of lysozyme at the water/ CH2Cl2 interface: enzyme unfolding and aggregation and its prevention by polyols, J. Pharm. Pharmacol. 53 (9) (2001) 1217–1226.
- [153] C. Perez-Rodriguez, N. Montano, K. Gonzalez, K. Griebenow, Stabilization of alpha-chymotrypsin at the CH2Cl2/water interface and upon water-in-oil-inwater encapsulation in PLGA microspheres, J. Control. Release 89 (1) (2003) 71–85.
- [154] A.S. Determan, J.H. Wilson, M.J. Kipper, M.J. Wannemuehler, B. Narasimhan, Protein stability in the presence of polymer degradation products: consequences for controlled release formulations, Biomaterials 27 (17) (2006) 3312–3320.
- [155] M.A. Tracy, Development and scale-up of a microsphere protein delivery system, Biotechnol. Prog. 14 (1) (1998) 108–115.
- [156] G. Zhu, S.P. Schwendeman, Stabilization of proteins encapsulated in cylindrical poly(lactide-co-glycolide) implants: mechanism of stabilization by basic additives, Pharm. Res. 17 (3) (2000) 351–357.
- [157] F. Lagarce, E. Garcion, N. Faisant, O. Thomas, P. Kanaujia, P. Menei, J.P. Benoit, Development and characterization of interleukin-18-loaded biodegradable microspheres, Int. J. Pharm. 314 (2) (2006) 179–188.
- [158] I.J. Castellanos, G. Flores, K. Griebenow, Effect of the molecular weight of poly(ethylene glycol) used as emulsifier on alpha-chymotrypsin stability upon encapsulation in PLGA microspheres, J. Pharm. Pharmacol. 57 (10) (2005) 1261–1269.
 [159] T. Morita, Y. Horikiri, H. Yamahara, T. Suzuki, H. Yoshino, Formation and isolation
- [159] T. Morita, Y. Horikiri, H. Yamahara, T. Suzuki, H. Yoshino, Formation and isolation of spherical fine protein microparticles through lyophilization of protein-poly (ethylene glycol) aqueous mixture, Pharm. Res. 17 (11) (2000) 1367–1373.
- [160] R.T. Bartus, M.A. Tracy, D.F. Emerich, S.E. Zale, Sustained delivery of proteins for novel therapeutic agents, Science 281 (5380) (1998) 1161–1162.
- [161] M. Takenaga, Y. Yamaguchi, A. Kitagawa, Y. Ogawa, Y. Mizushima, R. Igarashi, A novel sustained-release formulation of insulin with dramatic reduction in initial rapid release, J. Control. Release 79 (1–3) (2002) 81–91.
- [162] E. Chornet, S. Dumitriu, Inclusion and release of proteins from polysaccharidebased polyion complexes, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 31 (3) (1998) 223–246.
- [163] S.P. Schwendeman, M. Tobio, M. Joworowicz, M.J. Alonso, R. Langer, New strategies for the microencapsulation of tetanus vaccine, J. Microencapsul. 15 (3) (1998) 299–318.
- [164] M. Tobio, S.P. Schwendeman, Y. Guo, J. McIver, R. Langer, M.J. Alonso, Improved immunogenicity of a core-coated tetanus toxoid delivery system, Vaccine 18 (7) (2000) 618–622.
- [165] H.M. Nielsen, L. Jorgensen, in: L. Jorgensen, H.M. Nielsen (Eds.), Delivery Technologies for Biopharmaceuticals. Peptides, Proteins, Nucleic Acids and Vaccines, John Wiley & Sons, Chippenham, Wiltshire, Great Britain, 2009.
 [166] M.V.D. Weert, Delivery technologies for biopharmaceuticals, in: L. Jorgensen, H.M.
- [166] M.V.D. Weert, Delivery technologies for biopharmaceuticals, in: L. Jorgensen, H.M. Nielsen (Eds.), Peptides, Proteins, Nucleic Acids and Vaccines, John Wiley & Sons, Chippenham, Wiltshire, Great Britain, 2009, pp. 407–412.
- [167] M. Callewaert, D. Laurent-Maquin, F. Edwards-Levy, Albumin-alginate-coated microspheres: resistance to steam sterilization and to lyophilization, Int. J. Pharm. 344 (1-2) (2007) 161–164.
- [168] K.A. Athanasiou, G.G. Niederauer, C.M. Agrawal, Sterilization, toxicity, biocompatibility and clinical applications of polylactic acid/polyglycolic acid copolymers, Biomaterials 17 (2) (1996) 93–102.
- [169] M. Igartua, R.M. Hernandez, J.E. Rosas, M.E. Patarroyo, J.L. Pedraz, Gammairradiation effects on biopharmaceutical properties of PLGA microspheres loaded with SPf66 synthetic vaccine, Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 69 (2) (2008) 519–526.
- [170] R. Dorati, M. Patrini, P. Perugini, F. Pavanetto, A. Stella, T. Modena, I. Genta, B. Conti, Surface characterization by atomic force microscopy of sterilized PLGA microspheres, J. Microencapsul. 23 (2) (2006) 123–133.
- [171] H.E. Williams, J. Huxley, M. Claybourn, J. Booth, M. Hobbs, E. Meehan, B. Clark, The effect of γ-irradiation and polymer composition on the stability of PLG polymer and microspheres, Polym. Degrad. Stab. 91 (2006) 2171–2181.
- [172] L. Montanari, F. Cilurzo, B. Conti, I. Genta, A. Groppo, L. Valvo, A. Faucitano, A. Buttafava, Gamma irradiation effects and EPR investigation on poly(lactide-co-glycolide) microspheres containing bupivacaine, Farmaco 57 (6) (2002) 427–433.
- [173] C. Carrascosa, L. Espejo, S. Torrado, J.J. Torrado, Effect of gamma-sterilization process on PLGA microspheres loaded with insulin-like growth factor-I (IGF-I), J. Biomater. Appl. 18 (2) (2003) 95–108.
- [174] L. Montanari, F. Cilurzo, F. Selmin, B. Conti, I. Genta, G. Poletti, F. Orsini, L. Valvo, Poly(lactide-co-glycolide) microspheres containing bupivacaine: comparison between gamma and beta irradiation effects, J. Control. Release 90 (3) (2003) 281–290.
- [175] A.K. Dillow, F. Dehghani, J.S. Hrkach, N.R. Foster, R. Langer, Bacterial inactivation by using near- and supercritical carbon dioxide, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 96 (18) (1999) 10344–10348.
- [176] H. Toguchi, Sterility assurance of microspheres, J. Control. Release 62 (1–2) (1999) 51–55.
- [177] D.T. O'Hagan, J.P. McGee, D. Boyle, D. Gumaer, X.M. Li, B. Potts, C.Y. Wang, W.C. Koff, The preparation, characterization and pre-clinical evaluation of an orally administered HIV-1 vaccine, consisting of branched peptide immunogen entrapped in controlled release microparticles, J. Control. Release 36 (1995) 75–84.
- [178] [178] ClinicalTrials.gov. A Phase I/II Safety and Immunogenicity Trial of UBI Microparticulate Monovalent (HIV-1 MN) Branched Peptide Vaccine in HIV-1 Seronegative Human Subjects., (2005), http://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/ NCT00002428

Author's personal copy

M. Ye et al. / Journal of Controlled Release 146 (2010) 241-260

- [179] E. Ishikawa, K. Tsuboi, T. Yamamoto, A. Muroi, S. Takano, T. Enomoto, A. Matsumura, T. Ohno, Clinical trial of autologous formalin-fixed tumor vaccine for glioblastoma multiforme patients, Cancer Sci. 98 (8) (2007) 1226–1233.
- [180] B.G. Peng, S.Q. Liu, M. Kuang, Q. He, S. Totsuka, L. Huang, J. Huang, M.D. Lu, L.J. Liang, K.W. Leong, T. Ohno, Autologous fixed tumor vaccine: a formulation with cytokine-microparticles for protective immunity against recurrence of human hepatocellular carcinoma, Jpn. J. Cancer Res. 93 (4) (2002) 363–368.
- [181] M. Kuang, B.G. Peng, M.D. Lu, LJ. Liang, J.F. Huang, Q. He, Y.P. Hua, S. Totsuka, S.Q. Liu, K.W. Leong, T. Ohno, Phase II randomized trial of autologous formalin-fixed tumor vaccine for postsurgical recurrence of hepatocellular carcinoma, Clin. Cancer Res. 10 (5) (2004) 1574–1579.
- [182] K.D. Vlugt-Wensink, R. de Vrueh, M.G. Gresnigt, C.M. Hoogerbrugge, S.C. van Buul-Offers, L.G. de Leede, L.G. Sterkman, D.J. Crommelin, W.E. Hennink, R. Verrijk, Preclinical and clinical in vitro in vivo correlation of an hGH dextran microsphere formulation, Pharm. Res. 24 (12) (2007) 2239–2248.

260